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Amendment to: HB 1357 

FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

01/16/2015 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
I I d d d ti eves an appropnat1ons ant1c1pate un ercurren aw. 

2013-2015 Biennium 2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds 

Revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Expenditures $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Appropriations $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political 
subdivision. 

2013-2015 Biennium 2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 

Counties $0 $0 

Cities $0 $0 

School Districts $0 $0 

Townships $0 $0 

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters) . 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

The bill adds a new section to Chapter 49-10.1 to prohibit a railroad from operating a train or light engine without a 
crew of two. Bill also provides graduated civil penalties for willful violations. No fiscal impact. 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal 
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

The main focus of the bill is to place a mandate on railroads. The PSC is impacted only to enforce violations. Any 
penalties assessed would be deposited into the general fund. There is no way to estimate fiscal impact because 
there is no way to anticipate if there will be any violations or what type of violations there might be. 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

The only revenue generated would be from assessing civil penalties. Any penalties assessed would be deposited 
into the general fund. There is no way to anticipate if there will be any violations or what type of violations there 
might be, so no fiscal impact on revenues can be estimated. 

8. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

The only expenditures would relate to enforcing violations. There is no way to anticipate if there will be any violations 
or what type of violations there might be, so no fiscal impact on expenditures can be estimated . 



C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation. 

The main focus of the bill is to place a mandate on railroads. The PSC is impacted only to enforce violations. There 
is no way to anticipate if there will be any violations or what type of violations there might be, so no impact on 
appropriations can be estimated. 

Name: lllona Jeffcoat-Sacco 

Agency: Public Service Commission 

Telephone: 701-328-2407 

Date Prepared: 01/20/2015 
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0 Subcommittee 

Conference Committee 

Explanation or reasqn for introd 

A bill relating to the require ra1 road crew on a freight train: and to provide a penalty. 

Minutes: ttachments #1-5 

Chairman Dan Ruby opened the hearing on HB1357. 

Representative Trottier, District 19, introduced HB1357. 

Representative Trottier: The general public thinks that with a unit train of over 106 cars 
there would be 4-6 people on a crew for that train. I now find out that currently there are 
only two people on the train. This bill will address that. If at any time a railroad would 
decide to have one member on a crew, this would restrict that so there would always be 
two members on a crew. It seems to be common sense to have two. So, with this bill, 
even if Montana and Minnesota have only one person on a crew, when the train was in 
North Dakota it would be required to have two crew members. 

Representative Ben Hanson: Are there currently any penalties for not having a certain 
number of workers on a the train? 

Representative Trottier: I don't know for sure. Someone in following testimony will 
probably be able to tell you. The railroad currently has two crew members, but I think this 
has come about because of the accidents that have been in North Dakota. If there is only 
one person on the train; the railroad requires that they stay in the train at all times. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: Do any other states in our region have these laws? 

Representative Trottier: I don't know. 

Representative Mock, District 42, stood to support HB1357. To answer the chairman's 
question, I believe that Washington, Arizona and Wisconsin have introduced legislation 
similar legislation. 
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Representative Mock: I am humbled to be on this legislation. It is an unfortunate 
coincidence that the very day that we were visiting with railroad personnel about railroad 
safety issues, January 5, 2015, that the accident in Larimore, North Dakota happened. A 
freight train collided with a school bus. It really put an exclamation mark on the importance 
of legislation similar to what we have in HB 1357. As we learn more of the details of the 
accident, it was the conductor of the train that came off the train and was able to break the 
train so that emergency personnel could get to the bus. Only by having two individuals on 
the train was that possible. The emergency personnel would have had to go around many 
miles if that had not been possible. I hope that the committee gives this bill a DO PASS 
recommendation. 

Representative Rick C. Becker: What exactly did the conductor do at the accident? 

Representative Mock: The train was long enough that is was blocking the road. One 
individual was able to go back on the train at the intersection, break the airlines, decouple 
the cars, and then the cars could be moved so the intersection was cleared for emergency 
personnel. It is not a simple process. 

Senator Gary Lee, District 22, spoke in support of HB1357. I originally was hesitant to 
sign on to this bill because I don't often try to get in the way of business doing what they 
should do in terms of staffing. This does regard public safety and issues that I have been 
dealing with in my own area. (He explained the train safety issues in his area and how the 
trains have to be split by two people.) The train has gone off the track 7 times in 11 years 
in a stretch of about 7 miles near Casselton. One was in November 2014 and two years 
ago in December when an oil train exploded after colliding with a train with beans that had 
gone off the track. A tremendous explosion ensued. Part of that train was still good. It took 
the courage of the conductor with the firemen, to go back and separate the train so the 
good part could be moved away. If there had only been one person on that train; that 
wouldn't have been allowed, and there would have been a lot more damage to the cars that 
happened to be there. It is a matter of public safety that this gets discussed, if the railroad 
is intending to have a single person on a train. 

Brian Kalk, Public Service Commissioner, spoke to support HB1357. He stated for the 
record that he is speaking on behalf of Brian Kalk not the entire Public Service 
Commission. The facts he wants to talk about speak to public safety. The Public Service 
Commission has varying degrees of jurisdiction on railroads. One of the areas that is clear 
is the mainline rail road. If the mainline railroad wants to request that the whistle is not 
blown at a private crossing, we go out and hold a hearing to decide that. Prior to the last 
two years, we had ten different railroad crossings in Crary, Erie, (inaudible), Page, 
Williston, Hebron, Mandan, Fraine Barracks in Bismarck, and a couple in Manvel. One of 
the decision factors that I use to allow the railroads NOT to blow the whistle at the 
crossings is that there are at least two people in the cab, and they could always blow the 
whistle. If it was reduced to one person in the cab, I would have to go back in my role for 
public safety in the commission and look at the hearings again to determine if we would 
make the same decision if there were only one person in the cab. I just wanted you to 
know that factor that having two people in the cab played in making those decisions for 
public safety. 
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Representative Marvin Nelson: How are the numbers of crew members on a train 
reported to the Public Service Commission? 

Brian Kalk: We don't get daily reports. I am focusing on the time during the hearings, and 
the facts that are presented at the hearing that we use to make a decision for public safety. 

Representative Marvin Nelson: I am just trying to figure out how you are going to know if 
someone breaks this law if there is no reporting. 

Brian Kalk: If it became my knowledge that the railroad has made the decision to go back 
to one conductor, I would bring it up with my colleagues to see if we need to go back and 
look at those hearings again. If so, we would look to see if we would make the same 
decision if there were only one person in the cab. That is the way that I would deal with it. 

Vice Chairman Lisa Meier: Do you know who would be in charge of imposing the penalty 
if it was violated? 

Brian Kalk: I do not. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: What is the reason behind this bill? Has the railroad already had 
discussion about only having one crew member on a train? 

Brian Kalk: I do not know. We just looked at the bills coming up to see if there are any 
that we should weigh in on. I just wanted to share my experiences as they may help to 
make a decision one way or the other on this bill. 

Jim Chase, S MA R T-Transportation Division o f  the International Association of Sheet 
Metal, Air, Rail, and Transportation, spoke in support of HB1357. He provided written 
testimony and a report entitled, "North Dakota Crew - Two-Person Question Series". See 
attachments # 1-2. 
(28:00) 

Representative Rick C. Becker: I don't have first-hand knowledge of the accidents in 
North Dakota. In Larimore how many cars were on either side of the decoupling? 

Jim Chase: I'm not sure of the exact number, but I know that she had to walk back quite a 
ways, it is my understanding the train was about 6,500 feet in length, and she had to walk 
back 114th of that or more. 

Representative Rick C. Becker: How long does it take to go through the process of 
decoupling, cutting the brake line, and getting the engine going and clear? 

Jim Chase: It depends on where you will make the separation in the train and the 
landscape that you have to walk back. Using an average train on a blocked crossing, my 
best guess is 15-20 minutes to go through the process. He explained the process. 

Representative Rick C. Becker: Is it your contention that to move the entire train forward 
or back, takes longer than 15-20 minutes? 
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Jim Chase: No, but there are many situations where we cannot pull the whole train past 
the crossing because of limitations on authority, signals, and obstructions in the track. We 
may be able to pull ahead a car or two to separate the crossing, but to pull the whole train 
up a lot of times is not practical. 

Representative Rick C. Becker: In the crash on December 30, 20 13 what did Mr. 
Anderson, the crew member, do as far as the emergency actions that prevented the 
dangerous chain of explosions? 

Jim Chase: He was on the second train that derailed that caused the oil train to run into it 
and derail. After they determined that the oil train was on fire, Mr. Anderson contacted the 
rural fire department and got fire gear to put on (previous fire training. He went as close as 
he dared and made the cut on that train. They pulled the train back from the rear. Those 
cars were saved. 

Representative Rick C. Becker: It was actually a coincidence that he was a fireman. If 
he hadn't been a fireman, would he not have been able to decouple the train as a second 
crew member? 

Jim Chase: He could have gone back and made the cut, but wouldn't have been able to 
get as near as close. 

Representative Chris Olson: Do you have any statistics on how many times this process 
takes place on trains in North Dakota in a year's time? 

Jim Chase: I don't have any actual numbers because we don't keep track of that. It 
happens frequently. They are not all related to accidents. Some are mechanical 
breakdowns or we have to go into sidings that have crossings and meet multiple trains. In 
those situations we are required to cut the crossing. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: Is there a set distance that is required to maintain support to a train, 
or are there times that it would take outside support a long time to get to the train? 

Jim Chase: There is not any specification. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: Are there any other states that have laws that require two people 
minimum on a train? 

Jim Chase: Yes, there are three states that had it, and one was challenged. I believe it 
was West Virginia. It was challenged and overturned. Wisconsin and Arizona have current 
legislation that requires a minimum of two people on a train. There aren't a lot of others, 
but because of the signaling of BNSF that they were making a formal attempt to go to one 
person crews on certain routes it has just opened the floodgates, so to speak. This was the 
first formal signaling of the railroad that they want to do this. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: You don't think that the unions would have the leverage to stop 
that? 
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Jim Chase: Certainly the two things are intertwined. One of the things that we don't talk 
about in collective bargaining is public safety. We would argue, and our vote was to vote 
that down because we feel that the safest place for that person is in the cab, not possibly 
200 miles away at the business's discretion. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: It does seem like there would be a lot of risk when having only 
having one person on such a long unit train. On the other hand, some us remember the 
discussion of cutting down from three to two. It certainly is not a new battle between 
personnel and business. 

Jim Chase: I think that there is line here that is being crossed, and that line is public safety 
that will be impacted by this. We are not asking for more people, we are just asking to 
maintain the two. 

Rep. Mark Owens: Has your union been advised that this is a possibility in the near 
future? 

Jim Chase: Yes, the negotiations continue. They could come out tomorrow; offer a lot of 
money, and the protected employees may decide to take that. We could be running this 
shortly. Just as an added point; they were only going to do this on the positive train control 
routes, which are the major routes in North Dakota. They didn't say where the people 
would be stationed, but it could be up to 200 miles away. That is why we have an issue 
with this. 

(39:00) 
Mike Muscha, retired engineer and railroad worker for 4 2  years, spoke to support HB1357. 
He provided written testimony. See attachment #3. 

(47:00) 
Ron Huff, Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers for Trains, spoke to support HB 1357. He 
provided written testimony. See attachment #4. "A Guide to the Court Ruling on the 
Requiring Two-person Crew, from the United States Court of Appeals Seven Circuits". 
Portions of the law were highlighted and discussed. 

Ron Huff: The FRA is considering to make is so there has to be a two-man crew on a 
train, but it would be a hazardous material train. If you listen to the accidents, it wasn't the 
hazardous material trains that were the problem, except the one in Canada. 
(53:07) 

Chairman Dan Ruby: To clarify what you were talking about, is the law that was passed 
that requires two men on a crew, is that just for hazardous wasted trains? We heard earlier 
that there was language similar to this that is being proposed in Wisconsin. Is that for all 
trains? 

Ron Huff: No, sir. The law in Wisconsin requires two members on a train (all trains). That 
law was passed in 1997. In 1999 the railroads took it all the way to the Seventh Circuit 
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Court of Appeals. That court upheld that portion of law which requires two people on a 
train. The last that I heard, this law is pending in nine different states. 

Ron Huff finished his testimony. 

Representative Chris Olson: This bill is restricting the operation of trains when it is 
moving freight. Is there ever a time when an engine is carrying a smaller amount of freight 
where it may be safe enough to use a single crew member? Would we be unduly 
restricting the railroad in a case where it could be safe to have just one individual? 

Ron Huff: Is there a possibility of that happening? There is always a POSSIBIL ITY. But 
the question you should be asking is, "Whose life do you want to put on the line?" 

Representative Chris Olson: According to the federal register there are cases where 
there are single men. According to this law as well, we would only be forcing them to have 
two men in the case of a freight scenario. So, you could have a train traveling for other 
reasons with only one person. So, a person hit by one of those trains would be equally 
dead. Should we be requiring two men to be on an engine whenever it is running? Should 
the bill be amended? 

Ron Huff: Let's talk about a hostler and helper. A hostler is someone who is restricted to a 
movement within a maintenance (round house) facility. The helper engineer is one that is 
on the back of the train that is pushing the train. The engineer and conductor in the front 
control the train. If you are running a single engine with one person, maybe it would safe. 
If you are running two engines, in my mind, it would become questionable. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: If you see people moving cars around and getting them ready for 
pick-up. Would this apply to those? 

Ron Huff: That would be a private industry track and they would be responsible for the 
activities that go on there. The elevators own those tracks, and some may own their own 
engines. The bill itself says," ... a railroad may operate." 

Vice Chairman Lisa Meier: What is the maximum number of hours that a crew member 
may operate a train? 

Ron Huff: It is twelve hours. 
1 :05:49 

Mike Link, Department of Emergency Services, spoke on behalf of Greg Wills, Director of 
the Homeland Security Site, who wanted to testify on HB 1357. Mike is relaying their 
support for this bill. Greg has analyzed the train wrecks around the county that are related 
to oil, and the train wrecks that we have had in the state. He feels that having two people 
on the train, as stated in previous testimony, has been very beneficial in preventing loss of 
life or loss of property. 

There was no further support for HB 1357. 
1:07:20 
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John Olson, lobbyist for BNSF Railway - #148, spoke in opposition to HB1357. He 
provided written testimony. See attachment # 5. 
1:14:00 
View Rule- page 3 of testimony. 
John Olson: My point is that there is an argument to be made because they have taken 
jurisdiction at this point, preemption is already applying. It certainly will apply when the rule 
takes full effect. The rule will be published in April. There will be a comment period until 
June, and I anticipate that the rule will be in effect before this bill would take effect if it is 
passed. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: Do you know what the railroad's position is in relation to the number 
of crew members required? 

John Olson: I don't know that for a fact. You could probably track that on the website. 

Representative Gary Paur: Amtrak is a publically funded railroad. Would we have any 
jurisdiction over that? 

John Olson: I don't know the answer to that. 

Representative Ben Hanson: If BSNF's opposition is based on the idea that a federal rule 
will be coming out this year, why would they be opposed to this which would automatically 
be superseded by the federal rule? Why should we trust that the federal government will 
accomplish this in a timely manner? 

John Olson: I think it is bad law to pass provisions that will be preempted by the federal 
government. There is no doubt in my shop that this law will be adopted. 

Representative Ben Hanson: Does BSNF have a stance on the federal legislation? 

John Olson: I think it is really in the rule that is being talked about, even though the rule 
has not been published. I think that the rulemaking would permit the railroad to submit 
information under those circumstances where it believes that less than a two-man crew 
could be required. I don't know if they have a stance on the federal rule making. 

Representative Chris Olson: You say that the bill is unnecessary because they are 
already required to do so by the two-man contracts. Is there currently some negotiations 
going on about changing the contracts? 

John Olson: It is my understanding that those contracts were already negotiated. It was 
something that was pitched by BNSF at the time. I don't know about that. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: When you say that BNSF isn't running two-man crews, do you 
mean in North Dakota or in their whole system. 

John Olson: I can only speak for North Dakota, but I can say this: they are running two 
man crews ALL the time with oil or hazmat materials. 
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Representative Lois Delmore: Are there any penalties for the railroad if they would 
violate the federal rule? 

John Olson: I don't know what the penalties are at that level. The feds usually get pretty 
tough in making sure that the railroads comply. 

There was no further testimony in opposition to HB 1357. 
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crew on a freight train: and to provide a penalty. 

II Attachment #1 

Chairman Dan Ruby brought HB 1357 back before the committee and reviewed the bill. 
Vice Chairman Lisa Meier and I went to Legislative Council last night and found out that 
you can't convert a bill to a Concurrent Resolution. You can only do a Study Resolution. 
It seems like no one knows what the real rules are. So much of it is up in the air right now. 
We have a couple of options with this: 

• If we pass this and put it in our law, I would like to remove the reference to "light 
engine" removed. 

• If we do that, it may get preempted. 
• If the rules are consistent with our law, it wouldn't get preempted. 
• If we don't pass this, and they write it; it won't really matter. Except in that case we 

aren't really making the state's position on this known. 

Representative Gary Paur tried to get some answers as well. He didn't find out very much 
either. Vice Chairman Lisa Meier found out something about the penalties. They would be 
enforced by the Public Service Commission. 

Representative Robin Weisz: I struggle with this bill. The number one complaint I get 
from constituents is trains blocking the crossing. So, if there is a one man crew, the 
railroad will not have the ability to split the train to clear a crossing. It is an issue that we 
need to be aware of. It is a legitimate concern. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: We accept that there are new technologies that in some instances 
may help. The feds may or may not accept it. We don't know what the ruling will be. 

Representative Robin Weisz repeated his concerns about crossings. 

Representative Chris Olson: If that is one of the biggest concerns (splitting the trains at 
the crossing), then I think that this bill goes far beyond addressing that specific concern. It 



House Transportation Committee 
HB 1357 
2-19-15 
Page 2 

seems like that could be handled in law requiring certain types of management of these 
crossings. I would expect that the railroad would provide adequate personnel to comply 
with any rulings or regulations that might be made regarding NOT blocking crossings. 

Representative Gary Paur: When I signed on to this bill, I contacted a neighbor who was 
a track engineer regionally and nationally. He is extremely informed on railroads. He 
talked to me for over an hour, giving reason after reason why having a one person crew on 
a train is a DUMB idea. I came away 1 10% convinced that a one person crew is not a 
good idea. 

Representative Chris Olson: I do have information that states that single engine crews 
are not new in North America. Amtrak has a single conductor in the train. There are also 
regional freight railroads that use single person crews. The QS&L in Canada also operate 
a large number of trains with single person crews. Internationally, single person crews for 
trains are widespread in Europe and Australia. There is a wide range of information that 
we are not privy to, which might give us reasons why we would or would not want to pass 
this bill. 

Representative Rick C. Becker: It seems like this is preemptive. They are going to be 
working things out. I don't like passing bills in which the industry or the federal government 
is going to come out with something that preempts us. We are going more and more to 
less staffing and/or employees, as we talked about with autonomous vehicles hauling 
freight. It is in the best interest for the railroads to do what works best for them with the 
greatest amount of safety. I would like them to come up with their final recommendations 
before we get involved. 

Representative Gary Sukut: In my mind having two people on a train is common sense. 
But, as we look further into this, some of the studies that we were provided showed that 
with modern technology some of these one person trains are just as safe as or safer than 
having a two person crew. Another thing that concerns me is that we are issuing a 
mandate requiring the railroad industry to have two people on every train. That may be 
good, but I am not real excited about mandates and telling industry how to run their 
business. Going forward, technology continues to improve and improve. I worry that we 
are strapping them with a mandate that they have two employees, and going forward who 
know what will happen. Some of these issues may be handled through technology. This is 
a difficult decision. 

Representative Lois Delmore: I understand the mandate part and concerns that have 
been brought up, but I think we try to error on the side of public safety. We are dealing with 
trains that are 10,000 feet long. They cover two miles. Regardless of technology, if 
something goes wrong without two persons so they can decouple, it could mean someone's 
life. I would error on that side, rather than on the efficiency and things that we count on for 
on trains. 

Representative Lois Delmore moved an amendment, to remove "or light engine". 
Vice Chairman Lisa Meier seconded the motion. 
A voice vote was taken. The motion carried. 
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Representative Chris Olson: In the bill we are basically prohibiting the use of single 
person crews because we in this committee think it is unsafe. It should be noted that 
Canadian legislation permits the use of single person crews as long as certain parameters 
are met and certain determinations have been made. Single person crews are being used 
throughout the world. The question is: when is it appropriate and when is it not? In many 
cases it may be common sense to have two people on board. But, for us to say that there is 
never ever an instance in which the railroad will never be allowed to use a single person, 
might be short sighted and overbearing on our part. 

Representative Mike Schatz: Is there any evidence that there are more accidents when 
there is a one crew train than a two crew train? 

Chairman Dan Ruby: I don't think that there was anything provided about more accidents. 
There was more information about the increased safety with a two man crew when there 
was an accident. 

Representative Gary Paur: Two weeks after the accident in Quebec, it is no longer legal 
to have single person trains in Canada. They changed it to require two. Yesterday, I 
stopped at the Attorney General's Office to ask the effect of us passing this bill as far as if 
the feds passed something, if it was acceptable, or what the implications would be. I was 
referred to Commissioner Julie Fedorchak. She sent me an e-mail that says that the 
Federal Rail Administration does not support reducing the crews to one engineer. See 
attachment # 1. 

Representative Ben Hanson: Do we know which other states have passed these 
requirements? 

Vice Chairman Lisa Meier: I have in my notes that Wisconsin, Washington, and Arizona 
have introduced legislation. Law is pending in 10 states. 

Representative Gary Paur moved a DO PASS as amended on H B  1357. 
Representative Ben Hanson seconded the motion. 

A roll call vote was taken: Aye 7 Nay 6 Absent 1 
The motion carried. 
Representative Kathy Hawken will carry H B  1357. 

Representative Mike Schatz: I would like to reverse my vote. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: We would need a motion to reconsider. 

Representative Mike Schatz moved to reconsider the vote. 
Representative Rick C. Becker seconded the motion. 

A roll call vote was taken on the reconsideration o f  the DO PASS on H B  1357: 
Aye 7 Nay 6 Absent 1 The motion carried 

Representative Chris Olson moved a DO NOT PASS as amended on H B  1357. 



House Transportation Committee 
HB 1357 
2-19-15 
Page 4 

Representative Rick C. Becker seconded the motion. 

Representative Marvin Nelson: I will resist the DO NOT PASS. When we look at flying, 
there are two pilots up there. The autopilot can fly and land a plane, yet we still require two 
pilots. These trains may have some situations when someone is moving something and 
two are not required. But, these are two mile long trains, and we have already seen in this 
state incidences where the second person was very valuable. (Casselton and Larimore) In 
West Virginia, recently, they broke the train and saved some of the train from damage. It 
seems to me that when we are hauling these long trains, many with hazardous materials, 
that it is a basic public safety requirement that there should be a two man crew in the train. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: I understand your point of view, and I have really been torn on this 
issue. It makes sense. I have talked to people with the railroad and others. What concerns 
me that in every instance, no matter what comes down in the future, we will have this 
locked in. If they address this issue on a federal level this year, they might deem this is 
what will be enforced (two man crew). I have been torn and have not been exactly sure 
how I was going to vote until now. It does make sense, and common sense is what we 
legislate a lot. On this situation, for me, it finally came down to that fact that it is too cut and 
dried and too rigid for every situation that could come up. 

Representative Chris Olson: The airlines are regulated by the federal authorities, and I 
would hope they would never come to North Dakota to ask us to regulate them. We do not 
have the expertise and knowledge to do that. I think this topic definitely deserves study. 
There is federal rule making going on to deal with this now. I am hoping that the industry 
and federal regulators will continue to work on this issue and come up with an appropriate 
solution for everyone in the country rather than a patchwork of incompatible laws. 

Vice Chairman Lisa Meier: There is the concern of what the federal government is going 
to do. We were unable to change this to a resolution, and that is why I voted the way I did 
today. I do have concerns about the huge trains that carry hazardous materials. I feel this 
is a good bill to vote for. 

Representative Robin Weisz: This isn't locked in; the legislature will meet again in two 
years. Generally, I thought that we have always believed in state rights, and that the 
states should be setting policy instead of the federal government. 

Representative Kathy Hawken: I would like to echo what Representative Robin Weisz 
said. We have spent hours saying that the states are in charge, and now we are saying not 
this time?? I agree that you hate to tell someone else what they have to do, but there have 
been SO many problems in the last three months. It seems like it makes sense to have two 
people there. (in a train) We don't want to mandate, but we don't want to lose lives either. 

Representative Chris Olson: Right now there aren't any one man crews in North Dakota. 
People smarter than us are fighting and figuring it out. I don't feel that we have all of the 
information necessary to make the best decision. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: I could have easily argued both sides of this issue. 
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Representative Lois Delmore: My concern is with the engineer who cannot leave his 
engine and go back to decouple. We have had two tragic situations. I think that is a wake­
up call. The trains have changed; they are two miles long, and we don't think that we want 
to have any assurance that emergency vehicles can get to an accident? I also see it as a 
protection for the railroad companies. I heard just this week that there is someone going 
after the railroad company itself for being lax and not having a two man crew in a tragic 
accident. I don't understand why we pay so much attention to some things, when this is 
also a very important public safety issue. I understand mandates and don't really like them, 
but we mandate things all of the time, such as seatbelts. 

Chairman Dan Ruby: We have had this discussion before when we dealt with the remote 
trains in the yards. The concern was having feet on the ground and eyes out there. We did 
allow that change. 

Rep. Mark Owens: I am going back and forth just like many of you. I was reviewing the 
Wisconsin case. I was trying to understand what the district court did in that case. I voted 
no because in the final analysis in the history of what FRA had done in relationship to two 
man crews. They were allowing one man crews for one railroad because of the ability of 
remote control. The remote control was their second crew member. It did seem strange. 
But, then it also said that two man crews did not mean a pilot I copilot. It meant a 
conductor and someone else on the train. That was okay because there were still two 
people on the train. I may still struggle with it, even after we go upstairs. If FRA is saying 
across the nation they feel comfortable letting the second person be remote controlled, that 
finally flipped me. 

The roll call vote was taken on for a DO  NOT  PASS on H B  1357 as amended: 
Aye 7 Nay 6 Absent 1 The motion carried. 

Representative Rick C. Becker will carry H B  1357. 
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Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my name is Jim Chase. I 

represent SMART-Transportation Division of the International Association of 
Sheet Metal, Air, Rail, and Transportation employees. SMART is the largest 
rail labor union in North America. Our membership includes conductors, 
engineers, switchmen, trainmen and yardmasters; I am a loconr6tlve engineer 
for BNSF Railway. 

On its face, this bill might appear to be a labor versus railroad dispute, but in 
reality this is a common sense public safety bill. To give you some history, the 

federal government has mandated Positive Train Control (PTC) as part of the 
Railroad Safety Improvement Act (RSIA) of 2008. PTC is a set of highly 
advanced technologies designed to automatically stop or slow a train before 
certain types of accidents occur. As mandated by Congress in the RSIA, 
positive train(control must be designed to prevent: 

• Train-t�-train collisions. 
• Derailments caused by excessive speed. 
• Unauthorized incursions by trains onto sections of track where 

maintenance activities are taking place. 
• Movement of a train through a track switch left in the wrong position. 

Currently two persons are required to be on all freight trains in North Dakota 
by agreement; however, early in 2014  BNSF Railway negotiated an agreement 
to staff trains with an Engineer only. The agreement would have created the 
position of Master Conductor. This position would have been staffed along 
Positive Train Control routes of up to 200 miles apart at the discretion of the 
company. The Master Conductor would be responsible for assisting trains that 
are experiencing mechanical difficulty, may be involved in an accident, or need 
to "cut" a railroad crossing to allow vehicles to cross the tracks. 
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Despite the offers of increased wages and job protection that could last decades 
for all employees, the agreement was voted down by a large margin. The vast 
majority of our members are concerned that operating a train alone is 
inherently unsafe. 

To demonstrate the enhanced public safety provided by a two-person crew, 
here are three examples of recent accidents involving freight trains and the 
public: 

On January 5, 2015, a school bus failed to yield at a railroad crossing with stop 
signs and collided with an empty freight train in Larimore, killing the bus 
driver and a 1 7-year-old student and injuring 12  other people. Fortunately, the 
second crew member, Paula Randall, was free to leave the train engine cab, 
while remaining in radio contact with the engineer of the train. Paula walked 
back to the scene of the accident to assist the many victims and cut the rail 
cars to clear the crossing for emergency responders. 

On December 30, 2013, a westbound BNSF train carrying soybeans derailed 
near Casselton. An adjacent eastbound BNSF train carrying Bakken crude oil 
struck wreckage from the derailed train. The collision ignited the crude oil and 
set off a series of large explosions, which were heard and felt for miles around. 
On the grain train was Geoff Anderson, a crew member who had the training 
to perform emergency actions which prevented the dangerous chain of 
explosions from spreading farther. With only an engineer on that train, such 
actions, that limited the amount of destruction, would not have been possible. 

On July 6, 2013, a runaway train operated by short-line carrier Montreal, 
Maine and Atlantic Railway derailed in Lac-Megantic, Quebec. The resulting 
explosions and fires killed 4 7 people, leveled the center of the town, and 
caused hundreds of millions of dollars in environmental damage. The nearly 
mile-long train, carrying 72 tank cars of Bakken crude oil, was left standing 

unattended on a steep grade several miles outside the town due to it being the 
only stretch of track that could accommodate the entire train without blocking 
any highway grade crossings. 

The train could have been secured and left unattended on flat terrain much 
closer to the town after having been separated, or "cut," to keep the crossing 
open, but that task cannot be accomplished safely with a single person 
attempting to both secure the train with hand brakes and test the securement 
by releasing the air brakes, as safe operating standards dictate. This tragic 
incident occurred just months after the railroad had begun operating with a 
single-person crew. 
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Under current regulations, whenever a train is involved in an incident like a 

collision, a mechanical failure, or blocking a crossing because of dispatcher's 
orders, the engineer must remain in the cab of the locomotive to monitor and 
prevent undesired movement of the train and relay radio transmissions to the 
dispatcher in Fort Worth, Texas. 

In the event of an accident, it is the second crew member who can leave the 
cab to assist emergency personnel, cut the train apart to allow access to the 

accident scene, and radio the engineer regarding the train's status; however, 
the radio used must be portable and does not have the range to reach the radio 
tower to communicate with the dispatcher like the fixed radio in the 
locomotive cab. In the event of a mechanical failure, the second crew member 
leaves the cab, troubleshoots the failure, and repairs it, if possible. If it is not 
possible to make a repair in a timely fashion, he or she will separate the train 
to allow vehicular traffic to use the crossing. 

Aside from the difficulty in responding quickly to accidents and incidents with 
only one person on a train who is unable to leave the cab, concerns are being 
raised in a number of towns and cities nationwide about the blocking of 
crossings for extended periods of time. These communities are concerned for 
the safety of their citizens who may be blocked from receiving timely 
ambulance and fire services as well as generally inconvenienced by lengthy 
crossing blockages. 

In North Dakota, the towns of Enderlin, Berthold, and New Salem have all 
been pursuing legal action against the railroads for blocking rail crossings for 
extended periods of time. With the implementation of a single crew member on 
freight trains, it is likely there would be an increase in these complaints as a 

lone operator would have to wait for assistance to come from perhaps many 
miles away in order to cut a rail crossing. 

By now you may be wondering, "How does the general public stand on this 
issue?" This January the North Dakota Legislative Boards of SMART­
Transportation Division and the Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers and 

Trainmen jointly sponsored a survey on rail issues in our state to take the 
pulse of the general public. Here are a few key points from the survey results. 
The final report is included in full at the back of my testimony. 

When North Dakotans were asked if they supported legislation requiring all 
freight trains to operate with a crew of at least two people, ninety-two percent 
were in support (Q2 1). Ninety percent of those surveyed believe that one 
operator cannot be as safe as two (Q 18) .  Given the opportunity to vote on the 
issue, 88 percent of those surveyed would vote "Yes" (Q24) . 



Fifty-one percent of those surveyed believed there are three or more persons 

on a freight train crew (Ql 7) . When initially asked how worried they were 
about a train derailing in their communities, 62 percent of respondents were 

"Not That Worried" (Q 16) .  Once they learned that most crews consist of only 

two persons, the number of those "Not That Worried" fell from 62 to 25 percent 
(Q 19) .  

The railroads passing through our state are in the business of making money 
for their owners and stockholders and that is their fiduciary duty; they are not 

required to consider the public's safety and well-being when making business 
decisions. It is the duty and an obligation of our elected representatives to act 
in the public's best interests by creating rules and regulations which protect 
citizens, communities, and the environment. 

It is crystal clear that North Dakotans expect there to be at least two persons 

on every freight train passing through our state. When an accident or 
derailment occurs, there should be enough crew members on board a train to 
at least be capable of responding immediately to an accident and, if necessary, 
move the train to clear the area. The recent rail accidents in North Dakota 
support this common sense requirement. I urge this committee to vote "Do 
Pass" on HB 1357. 

• 





North Dakota Survey 
January,2015 

Executive Summary: 

Prepared by DFM Research 

Residents of North Dakota strongly support the creation of state legislation which would require a 
crew of two individuals to operate any freight train in the state. North Dakotans, when presented 
with balanced arguments both for and against requiring a two-person crew, favor passage by a more 
than ten-to-one margin (88 to 6 percent). It should be noted that the survey was commissioned prior 
to House Bill 1357 being introduced in the North Dakota Legislature. The survey consisted of 400 
random respondents using both landline and cell phones and was conducted between January 17-26. 

Respondents were asked about train derailment concerns, support levels for reintroducing 
legislation, and message testing of commonly used arguments by rail labor and rail management 
regarding their positions on two-person crew legislation. Key findings include: 

• Initially, 62 percent indicate they are ' not that worried ' about a train derailment in their 
community; this level drops to 25 percent ' not that worried' (a 37 percentage point decline) 
when informed that freight trains operating in North Dakota use a crew of two, and that 
some railroads would like to reduce crews to one-person on some trains. (Questions 16 and 19) 

• When asked what size crew operates a freight train traveling through North Dakota, 51 
percent of respondents believe either three, four, or more crew members - another 13 
percent said 'Don ' t Know' . (Question 17) 

• Respondents were next informed that in 2013 a bill to require freight trains to operate with a 
crew of two was introduced in Congress, but no action was taken. When asked if they would 
like to see The Safe Freight Act introduced in North Dakota, 92 percent indicated support. 
High support levels exist amongst all demographic groupings, including 88 percent of 
Republicans and 86 percent of those with a favorable view of the Tea Party. (Question 20) 

After the initial test for support levels of two-person crew legislation, respondents were then 
presented statements often used for and against two-person crew legislation and asked if they found 
the position ' convincing' or 'not that convincing' . Each respondent was tested with three statements 
for passage of The Safe Freight Act and three statements to reject The Safe Freight Act. Key 
findings include: 

• Over nine-in-ten (93 percent) found ' convincing' the argument that having two crew 
members on a train allows each person to supervise and communicate with the other to help 
avoid mistakes that may contribute to an accident. This is the most convincing argument for 
supporting two-person crew legislation. (Question 22c) 

• Only eight percent found ' convincing' the argument that two or more crew members in an 
engine may be a distraction to the engineer, causing a loss of focus. (Question 23d) 

• Statements against passage of The Safe Freight Act are from a 2013 American Association 
of Railroads (AAR) letter sent to members of Congress. All of AAR positions fall flat with 
the public; even their strongest statement, "commuter rail operates thousands of trains a day 
with one person in the locomotive, and the data going back to the 1970s shows an excellent 
safety record" was only found ' convincing' by 26 percent ofrespondents. (Question 23b) 

The January 2015 survey is a snap-shot of North Dakotans regarding their views on two-person 
crew legislation. Based on the results of the survey, and combined with past surveys from North 
Dakota and around the country, it is clear that no matter who you are, where you live, or what your 
partisan inclinations, North Dakotans overwhelmingly support two-person crew legislation . 
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North Dakota Survey 
January,2015 

Methodology 

Prepared by DFM Research 

The survey results presented in this report are based on a stratified random sample of 400 North 
Dakotans; the sample was stratified by five distinct regions to ensure a representative sample of the 
North Dakota public. The percentage allocated for each region was based on the most recent Census 
Bureau state population estimates. 

26% - Eastern Cities (Fargo, West Fargo, Grand Forks) 
20% - Western Cities (Bismarck, Mandan, Minot) 
18% - Eastern North Dakota 
19% - Central North Dakota 
17% - Western North Dakota 

After the numbers were stratified into the appropriate region, telephone numbers were then selected 
by random using a skip pattern to guarantee that the interviews were distributed throughout the 
region. Each number in the stratified sample had the same non-zero chance of being selected for an 
interview. 

Telephone interviews were conducted by trained staff of Stone Research Services of Indianapolis, 
Indiana, using a computer-assisted telephone interview (CATI) system for landline phones. Cell 
phone interviews are dialed manually to comply with the Telemarketing Consumer Protection Act 
of 1991. To ensure everyone in the household would have an equal chance of being selected, callers 
would ask to interview the resident over the age of 18 who had the most recent birthday. 

Final results are weighted based on gender, age, and education to conform to the approximate 
voting population based on U.S. Census Bureau demographic data. 

Gender 

Male 
Female 

49% 
51% 

Age 

18-39 
40-64 
65+ 

40% 
41% 
19% 

Education 

High School/Less 
Some College/ AA 
Bachelor/Graduate 

36% 
37% 
27% 

The final results presented are subject to sampling error, which is the difference between results 
obtained from the survey and those that would be obtained if everyone in the target population were 
interviewed. The sampling error, commonly known as the margin of error, is ± 4.9 percentage 
points with a 95 percent confidence level; meaning that in 19 out of 20 times, the individual 
responses would be within the margin of error (confidence interval). If final results of a question 
resulted in a tabulated answer of 50 percent, the confidence interval would between 45. l to 54.9 
percent. Where appropriate, question and answer choices are randomized to reduce order bias; due 
to rounding, numbers may not equal 100 percent. 

Project management and final analysis of the data was completed by Dean Mitchell of DFM 
Research based in Saint Paul, Minnesota. In addition to his 22 years of political experience, Dean 
has completed course work in survey techniques and statistics as part of his Master in Public Policy 
(MPP) degree from the University of Minnesota's Humphrey School of Public Affairs . 
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North Dakota Survey 
January, 2015 

Prepared by DFM Research 

Topline Results: 

Interviews: 400 residents over the age 18 that reside in North Dakota 

±4.9 percentage points Margin of Error: 
Interview Dates: January 17-26, 2015 

Sample: Landline and cell phone sample. Random digit numbers provided by Survey Sample 
International (SSI) of Fairfield, CT. SSI provided Stone Research with 4,000 residential 
random phone numbers from a pool of listed and unlisted numbers in the boundary area, and 
1,700 cell phone numbers; which then were stratified into five distinct geographical regions. 

Survey Sponsors: SMART Transportation Division 's North Dakota Legislative Board and BLET's North 
Dakota Legislative Board 

Ql: Generally speaking, do you think the country is moving in the right direction, or is the 
country off on the wrong track? 

Right direction..... ................. ...................................................... ....... 30°10 
Wrong track ...................................................................................... SS 
(VOL) Unsure......................................... .......................................... 16 

Q2: And generally speaking, do you think North Dakota is moving in the right direction, or is 
North Dakota off on the wrong track? 

Right direction................................................................................... 74°10 
Wrong track ...................................................................................... 17 
(VOL) Unsure...... .. ........................................................................... 9 

Q3: I'm now going to read you names of some public figures and organizations. For each one, 
please tell me if you have a favorable or unfavorable opinion, and if you never heard of 
them before, just let me know. (Questions 3b through 3j; N=308, MoE ±5.6%pts) 

Favorable Unfavorable Neutral CVOL) Never Heard Of 

Q3a: Barack Obama 33 61 6 0 
Q3b: John Hoeven 79 9 9 3 
Q3c: Heidi Heitkamp 65 23 10 2 
Q3d: Kevin Cramer 51 27 15 7 
Q3e: Jack Dalrymple 63 16 16 5 
Q3f: North Dakota Legislature 61 19 19 1 
Q3g: Your State Legislator 60 14 23 3 
Q3h: Republican Party 51 33 16 0 
Q3i: Democratic Party 39 45 16 0 
Q3j: Tea Party Movement 28 46 20 5 
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Prepared by DFM Research 

Q4: One topic that has been discussed a lot is the Affordable Care Act of 2010, generally known 
as ObamaCare. Now that some time has passed since the law has been in effect, generally 
speaking do you now approve or disapprove of the Affordable Care Act? 

Approve ............................................................................................ 29% 
Disapprove ........................................................................................ 59 
(VOL) Neutral I Unsure .................................................................... 12 

Q5: And which would you say best fits your current view of the Affordable Care Act? 

The law should be repealed in its entirety ........................................ 33% 
The law should be scaled back, but portions kept ............................ 28 
The law should stand as is ................................................................ 10 
The law should be expanded to provide more coverage ................... 19 
(VOL) Unsure ................................................................................... 11 

QlO: I'm now going to read you some additional names. For each one, please tell me if you have 
a favorable or unfavorable opinion, and if you never have heard of them before, just let me 
know. 

Favorable Unfavorable <VOL) Neutral Never Heard Of 

QlOa: Amtrak 72 12 14 2 
QlOb: High Speed Rail 41 31 20 9 
QlOc: North Dakota DOT 74 11 14 1 
QlOd: BNSF Railroad 60 18 19 3 
QlOe: Transporting Oil by Rail 54 37 9 0 
QlOf: Labor Unions 46 37 15 1 
QlOg: The NRA 55 25 15 5 

Qll: How worried are you about a train derailing in your community? 

Very Worried.................................................................................... 10°/o 
Fairly Worried .................................................................................. 9 
Just Somewhat Worried.................................................................... 19 
NotthatWorried ............................................................................... 62 

Q12: Based on what you know, how many people do you think operate a freight train that travels 
through North Dakota? 

One................................................................................................... 7o/o 
Two ................................................................................................... 29 
Three................................................................................................. 18 
Four or more ..................................................................................... 33 
Don't know........................................................................................ 13 
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Currently most freight trains in North Dakota operate with a crew of two; but now there are 
efforts by some railroads to reduce the crew to just one person on some trains. 

Q13: When it comes to railroad safety and operations, do you think a train with a crew of one 
individual can be operated as safely as a train with a crew of two individuals? 

Yes, one operator can be as safe as two .. ..... .. ...... ........... ........ .......... 7°/o 
No, one operator cannot be as safe ....................... ............................ 90 
(VOL) Unsure................................................ ................................... 3 

Q14: Now let's suppose freight trains in your area operated with only a crew of one; now how 
worried would you be about a train derailing in your community? 

Very Worried... ...................................................................... ........... 30o/o 
Fairly Worried .................................................................................. 19 
Just Somewhat Worried........ .... ............................................ ............ 26 
Not that Worried ............................................................................... 25 

Federal legislation was introduced in 2013 which would require all freight trains to operate 
with a crew of at least two people; this bill was known as H.R. 3040, The Safe Freight Act. 
Congress took no action in 2014, and now some are looking to the states to take action. 

QlS: Now looking ahead to the 2015 North Dakota legislative session. Some legislators want to 
introduce a version of The Safe Freight Act and require all freight trains to operate with a 
crew of at least two people in North Dakota. Do you support or oppose the introduction of 
The Safe Freight Act? 

Support ................................................... .......................................... 92o/o 
Oppose .............................................................................................. 4 
(VOL) Unsure ...................... ............ ................................................. 4 

Q16: I now want to read you a few reasons why some would like to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing argument to pass the legislation: (Questions 22a through 22e; N=240, MoE :!;:6.3%pts) 

Q16a: It takes two crew members to properly secure a train when that train is going to be left 
unattended. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 75°/o 
Not that convincing ............. ............................................................. 19 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 5 

Q16b: Having two crew members on a train provides better monitoring of traffic at public road 
crossings. 

Convincing .. .... ... .......... ... . ... ...... ...... .. ........... .. . ............ .. .. ........... .. .... 81°/o 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 16 
(VOL) Unsure ................................................................................... 3 
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Q16c: Having two people on a train allows the crew members to supervise and communicate with 
each other to help avoid mistakes that may contribute to an accident. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 93% 
Not that convincing ............................ .............................................. 5 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 2 

Ql6d: The Federal Railroad Administration has stated its belief that multiple person crews enhance 
safety. 

Convincing ......................................... .............................................. 85% 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 8 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 6 

Q16e: According to federal regulations, the engineer is not allowed to leave the locomotive cab 
while operating the train. A second crew member is necessary to investigate incidents such 
as derailment or a collision between a train and a motor vehicle at a crossing. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 84°/o 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 11 
(VOL) Unsure ................................................................................... 5 

Q17: I now want to read you a few reasons why some DO NOT want to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing reason to not pass the legislation: (Questions 23a through 23e; N=300, MoE ;t5.5%pts) 

Q17a: Train crew size is addressed in the collective bargaining process between management and 
labor, and a law is not needed. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 13°/o 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 78 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 9 

Q17b: Commuter rail operates thousands of trains a day with one person in the locomotive, and the 
data going back to the 1970s shows an excellent safety record. 

Convincing ......................................... .............................................. 26°/o 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 69 
(VOL) Unsure ................................................................................... 5 

Q17c: In 2009, the Federal Railroad Administration found no factual evidence to support the 
prohibition against one-person operation of trains. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 16% 
Not that convincing ............................ ................................. ............. 78 
(VOL) Unsure ................................................................................... 6 

Ql 7d: The railroads say that two or more crew members in an engine may be a distraction to the 
engineer, causing loss of focus. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 8% 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 88 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 4 
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Q18: Now considering everything you just heard about The Safe Freight Act; suppose you could 
vote on the bill. Would you vote YES to pass The Safe Freight Act or would you vote NO, 
and reject The Safe Freight Act? 

Yes, pass ...... ... ... .......... .... ......................... ... ... ....... .. ... . ...... .... ... ........ 88°/o 
No, reject .......................................................................................... 6 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... S 

Q19: Generally speaking, when it comes to railroad safety, whom would you say you trust more 
to promote the right policies: railroad employees or railroad management? 

Railroad Employees ........................................................................... 72o/o 
Railroad Management ........................................................................ 19 
(VOL) Unsure I Both I Neither .......................................................... 9 

Q20: Rail labor unions are in support of The Safe Freight Act requiring a crew of two on all 
trains; which do you believe is their motive: to protect members' jobs, protect rail safety for 
the general public and members, or both jobs and public safety? 

Members' jobs ...... ............... ...... ..... .......... ................................. ....... 12°/o 
Rail safety for public and members................... ............. ...... ... .. ........ 11 
Both .......................... ... ... ........................................ ... ....................... 73 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 4 

Now just a few final questions for demographic purposes: 

Q95: When it comes to political parties, do you consider yourself a: 

Democrat................ ....................................................................... .... 23°/o 
an Independent ....... .. ............. .... ... ......... ... ... ........... ... .. . ...... ... . . . ... . ... . . 43 
Republican ........................................................................................ 34 

Q96: When it comes to your political philosophy, do you consider yourself a: 

Liberal ...................................... .................................................. ...... . 14°/o 
Moderate .. .. .. ... ....... ...... ................ ... ... ............... ... .. ... ... ...... .... ........... 42 
Conservative ..................................................................................... 40 
Tea Party.............................................................................. ............. 4 
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Very Worried ............. :...................................................................... 10% 
Fairly Worried .................................................................................. 9 
Just Somewhat Worried.................................................................... 19 
Not that Worried ............................................................................... 62 

Gender Very Fairly Smwht N21 

Men 7% 6 17 69 
Women 12 12 20 56 

Age Ym: Fairly Smwht N21 

18-39 10 4 17 70 
40-64 10 15 19 56 
65 plus 9 9 22 61 

Education Very Fairly Smwht Not 

High School/Less 9 7 17 67 
Some College/ AA Degree 12 8 18 62 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 7 13 22 57 

Region Ym: Fairly fum!!!! Not 

East City 15 11 23 51 
West City 7 11 20 61 
East Rural 12 8 12 67 
Central Rural 2 5 16 77 
West Rural 9 7 19 65 

Pam Identification Very Fairly Smwht Not 

Democrat 15 12 19 54 
Independent 9 8 19 63 
Republican 7 8 18 67 

Ideology Very Fairly Smwht N21 

Liberal 15 11 11 63 
Moderate 11 10 28 51 
Conservative 8 8 13 72 
Tea Party (Favorable) 3 9 13 75 
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Q12: Based on what you know, how many people do you think operate a freight train that travels 
through North Dakota? 

One ................................................................................................... 7% 
Two .................................................. .. ............................................... 29 
Three ................................................................................................. 18 
Four or more ..................................................................................... 33 
Don't know ....................................................................... .. ............... 13 

Gender Q.!!£ I:!!!! Three .E!!J!!:± IlK 

Men 9% 31 20 31 8 
Women 5 27 17 34 18 

Age One I:!!:!! Three .E!!J!!:± IlK 

18-39 10 27 25 28 10 
40-64 6 31 14 36 12 
65 plus 3 29 14 33 21 

Education One m Three Four+ DK 

High School/Less 7 24 16 34 17 
Some College/ AA Degree 7 27 18 34 15 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 6 37 22 28 6 

Region .Qn! I:!!:!! Three .E!!J!!:± DK 

East City 5 35 16 31 12 
West City 9 24 24 26 18 
East Rural 5 35 11 41 8 
Central Rural 4 25 20 35 16 
West Rural 10 22 22 33 12 

Pam Identification One I:!!:!! Il!m Four+ IlK 

Democrat 8 32 14 36 10 
Independent 6 31 22 29 12 
Republican 7 24 18 34 18 

Ideology .Qn! Im! Three Four+ IlK 

Liberal 4 21 16 44 15 
Moderate 6 32 22 31 10 
Conservative 9 29 16 31 16 
Tea Party (Favorable) 4 25 20 35 16 
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Q13: When it comes to railroad safety and operations, do you think a train with a crew of one 
individual can be operated as safely as a train with a crew of two individuals? 

Yes, one operator can be as safe as two ............................................ 7% 
No, one operator cannot be as safe ................................................... 90 
(VOL) Unsure .............................................•..................................... 3 

Gender Yes No Unsure 

Men 12% 84 4 
Women 2 95 3 

Age Yes No Unsure 

18-39 11 85 5 
40-64 7 91 2 
65 plus 1 96 2 

Education Yes No Unsure 

High School/Less 7 91 3 
Some College/ AA Degree 8 89 3 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 6 90 4 

Region Yes ~ Unsure 

East City 7 89 4 
West City 9 90 1 
East Rural 5 90 4 
Central Rural 2 93 4 
West Rural 10 87 3 

Pam Identification X£! ~ Unsure 

Democrat 4 93 3 
Independent 5 93 2 
Republican 3 92 5 

Ideology Yes No Unsure 

Liberal 4 95 1 
Moderate 8 88 4 
Conservative 7 89 4 
Tea Party (Favorable) 10 86 4 
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Q14: Now let's suppose freight trains in your area operated with only a crew of one, now how 
worried would you be about a train derailing in your community? 

Very Worried .................................................................................... 30% 
Fairly Worried ............... ................................. .................................. 19 
Just Somewhat Worried......... ........................................................... 26 
Not that Worried...... ..................................................... .. .................. 25 

Gender Very Fairly Smwht Not 

Men 23% 17 24 36 
Women 37 21 28 14 

Age .YID'. Fairly Smwht .rsfil 

18-39 23 14 33 29 
40-64 34 23 23 20 
65 plus 36 21 18 25 

Education .YID'. Fairly Smwht Not 

High School/Less 38 15 22 25 
Some College/ AA Degree 27 19 31 24 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 24 26 25 25 

Region Very Fairly Smwht Not 

East City 38 21 21 20 
West City 28 22 27 24 
East Rural 28 12 31 29 
Central Rural 24 23 24 29 
West Rural 28 18 30 24 

Pam Identification .YID'. Fairly Smwht Not 

Democrat 44 14 27 14 
Independent 28 23 19 30 
Republican 23 18 34 25 

Ideology .YID'. Fairly Smwht Not 

Liberal 37 9 27 26 
Moderate 35 25 24 16 
Conservative 23 18 27 31 
Tea Party (Favorable) 20 21 30 28 
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Ql5: Now looking ahead to the 2015 North Dakota Legislative session. Some legislators want to 
introduce a version of the Safe Freight Act and require all freight trains to operate with a 
crew of at least two people in North Dakota? Do you support or oppose the introduction of 
The Safe Freight Act? 

Support ............................................................................................. 92o/o 
Oppose.............................................................................................. 4 
(VOL) Unsure .......................... ... ........ .............................................. 4 

Gender fuml!fil! .Qlll!Q!£ Unsure 

Men 87% 7 6 
Women 96 1 3 

Age Supoort .Qlll!Q!£ Unsure 

18-39 91 4 5 
40-64 92 5 4 
65 plus 92 3 5 

Education fuml!fil! .Qlll!Q!£ Unsure 

High School/Less 92 3 5 
Some College/ AA Degree 92 4 4 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 91 4 5 

Region fuml!fil! Oppose ~ 

East City 93 3 5 
West City 86 5 9 
East Rural 90 3 7 
Central Rural 95 5 0 
West Rural 94 4 1 

Partl'. ldentific1tion fuml!fil! .Qlll!Q!£ Unsure 

Democrat 96 0 4 
Independent 92 5 2 
Republican 88 5 7 

ldeoloey fuml!fil! .Qlll!Q!£ Unsure 

Liberal 96 0 4 
Moderate 97 1 2 
Conservative 85 8 7 
Tea Party (Favorable) 86 6 7 

Page 13 of25 



North Dakota Survey 
January, 2015 

Prepared by DFM Research 

Q16a: I now want to read you a few reasons why some would like to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing argument to pass the legislation: (Questions 22a through 22e; N=240, MoE ±(i.3%pts) 

It takes two crew members to properly secure a train when that train is going to be left 
unattended. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 75°/o 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 19 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 5 

Gender Convincing Not That Unsure 

Men 63% 32 5 
Women 87 7 6 

Age Convincing Not That Unsure 

18-39 77 20 4 
40-64 75 19 6 
65 plus 74 18 8 

Education Convin£ing Not That Unsure 

High School/Less 82 13 5 
Some College/ AA Degree 74 23 3 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 68 23 9 

Region Convincing Not That Unsure 

East City 74 22 4 
West City 66 28 7 
East Rural 76 19 5 
Central Rural 70 19 11 
West Rural 95 5 0 

Party Identification Convincing Not That Unsure 

Democrat 79 18 4 
Independent 75 18 8 
Republican 74 22 4 

Ideology Convincing Not That ~ 

Liberal 80 12 8 
Moderate 80 15 5 
Conservative 65 29 5 
Tea Party (Favorable) 71 24 5 
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Q16b: I now want to read you a few reasons why some would like to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing argument to pass the legislation: (Questions 22a through 22e; N=240, MoE ±6.3%pts) 

Having two crew members on a train provides better monitoring of traffic at public road 
crossings. 

Convincing ......................................... .............................................. 81 % 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 16 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 3 

Gender Convincin& ~ Unsure 

Men 74% 23 3 
Women 88 10 2 

Age Convincin& Not That Unsure 

18-39 82 16 2 
40-64 81 18 1 
65 plus 80 15 5 

Education Convincin& ~ .lli!!!!r! 

High School/Less 85 11 4 
Some College/ AA Degree 78 19 2 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 80 19 I 

Region Convincin& Not That Unsure 

East City 80 22 4 
West City 80 28 7 
East Rural 75 19 5 
Central Rural 92 19 11 
West Rural 79 5 0 

Pam Identification ~ogvincin& Not That Unsure 

Democrat 86 12 2 
Independent 79 19 2 
Republican 80 16 4 

Ideology C2nvincin& Not That Unsure 

Liberal 87 9 4 
Moderate 83 15 2 
Conservative 78 19 3 
Tea Party (Favorable) 76 18 6 
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Q16c: I now want to read you a few reasons why some would like to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing argument to pass the legislation: (Questions 22a through 22e; N=240, MoE ±6.3%pts) 

Having two people on a train allows the crew members to supervise and communicate with 
each other to help avoid mistakes that may contribute to an accident. 

Convincing ............ .. ......................................................................... 93o/o 
Not that convincing ....................................................... ................... 5 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................ ................ ... 2 

Gender C!!DVjD£iDll Not That Unsure 

Men 91% 8 2 
Women 95 3 2 

Age Convincini: Not That !l!!!!!!:!l 

18-39 92 6 2 
40-64 95 4 1 
65 plus 90 8 2 

Education Convincini: ~ Unsure 

High School/Less 92 6 1 
Some College/ AA Degree 94 4 2 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 92 7 1 

Region Convin£ini: ~ Unsure 

East City 94 3 3 
West City 96 4 0 
East Rural 86 11 2 
Central Rural 98 0 2 
West Rural 91 9 0 

Pam Identification Convincini: Not That Unsure 

Democrat 96 2 2 
Independent 92 7 1 
Republican 92 6 2 

Ideology Convincini: Not That Unsure 

Liberal 95 0 5 
Moderate 96 4 0 
Conservative 90 8 2 
Tea Party (Favorable) 91 7 
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Ql6d: I now want to read you a few reasons why some would like to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing argument to pass the legislation: (Questions 22a through 22e; N=240, MoE ;±6.3%pts) 

The Federal Railroad Administration has stated its belief that multiple person crews enhance 
safety. 

Convincing .................................................................. ..................... 85°/o 
Not that convincing ................................................................ .......... 8 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 6 

Gender Convincin1 Not That Unsure 

Men 83% 11 6 
Women 87 6 7 

Age Convincini:; ~ .!l!!!m 

18-39 89 3 8 
40-64 86 12 3 
65 plus 79 11 10 

Education Convincini:; ~ .!l!!!m 

High School/Less 82 11 8 
Some College/ AA Degree 89 5 6 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 86 9 5 

Region ~oovincini:; Not That Unsure 

East City 85 7 9 
West City 91 6 2 
East Rural 88 7 5 
Central Rural 85 8 6 
West Rural 77 13 IO 

Pam Identification ~oovin£ini:; Not That Unsure 

Democrat 90 4 6 
Independent 89 6 5 
Republican 77 13 9 

Ideology Convinsioi:; Not That Unsure 

Liberal 89 6 5 
Moderate 85 IO 4 
Conservative 85 7 8 
Tea Party (Favorable) 82 IO 8 
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Q16e: I now want to read you a few reasons why some would like to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing argument to pass the legislation: (Questions 22a through 22e; N=240, MoE ;t6.3%pts) 

According to federal regulations, the engineer is not allowed to leave the locomotive cab 
while operating the train. A second crew member is necessary to investigate incidents such 
as derailment or a collision between a train and a motor vehicle at a crossing. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 84°/o 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 11 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................. .................. 5 

Gender Convincini: Not That Unsure 

Men 77% 18 6 
Women 92 4 4 

Age Convin£ini: Not That Unsure 

18-39 81 16 3 
40-64 88 9 3 
65 plus 85 5 IO 

Education Convincini: Not That Unsure 

High School/Less 82 9 9 
Some College/ AA Degree 93 5 2 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 77 21 3 

Region ~onvin£ini: ~ Unsure 

East City 86 11 3 
West City 80 13 7 
East Rural 82 9 9 
Central Rural 90 8 2 
West Rural 85 13 2 

Pam Identification Convincini: Not That Unsure 

Democrat 89 5 5 
Independent 81 16 3 
Republican 85 8 7 

Ideology Convincini: Not That Unsure 

Liberal 89 3 8 
Moderate 84 11 6 
Conservative 84 13 3 
Tea Party (Favorable) 82 15 3 
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Q17a: I now want to read you a few reasons why some DO NOT want to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing reason to not pass the legislation: (Questions 23a through 23e; N=300, MoE ±5· 7%pts) 

Train crew size is addressed in the collective bargaining process between management and 
labor, and a law is not needed. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 13% 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 78 
(VOL) Unsure ................................................................................... 9 

Gender Convincin& ~ Unsure 

Men 12% 80 8 
Women 13 77 10 

Age Convincigg Not That Unsure 

18-39 10 79 11 
40-64 11 84 5 
65 plus 19 68 13 

Education Convincigg Not That Unsure 

High School/Less 19 79 9 
Some College/ AA Degree 9 77 11 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 9 83 2 

Region Convincig& Not That Unsure 

East City 7 85 7 
West City 13 80 8 
East Rural 14 75 11 
Central Rural 18 72 11 
West Rural 14 77 9 

Pam Identification Cgnvincin& Not That Unsure 

Democrat 11 82 8 
Independent 14 80 7 
Republican 13 75 13 

Ideology Convini;i!!& Not That Unsure 

Liberal 20 71 9 
Moderate 8 85 7 
Conservative 14 77 8 
Tea Party (Favorable) 16 74 10 
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Q17b: I now want to read you a few reasons why some DO NOT want to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing reason to not pass the legislation: (Questions 23a through 23d; N=300, MoE ±;5.7%pts) 

Commuter rail operates thousands of trains a day with one person in the locomotive, and the 
data going back to the 1970s shows an excellent safety record. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 26o/o 
Not that convincing ............. .. ........................................................... 69 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 5 

Gender Convincini:; Not That ~ 

Men 24% 73 3 
Women 28 65 7 

Age Convincini:; Not That Unsure 

18-39 34 60 6 
40-64 20 78 2 
65 plus 20 71 9 

Education Convincini:; &!!..!.!!.!!! Unsure 

High School/Less 28 62 10 
Some College/ AA Degree 25 71 4 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 24 65 1 

Region Convincini:; Not That Unsure 

East City 27 65 8 
West City 20 72 7 
East Rural 28 65 7 
Central Rural 33 65 2 
West Rural 19 81 0 

Pam Identification Convin~ini:; Not That Unsure 

Democrat 29 65 6 
Independent 17 79 4 
Republican 34 59 7 

Ideology Convincini:; Not That Unsure 

Liberal 24 64 12 
Moderate 20 75 4 
Conservative 32 63 4 
Tea Party (Favorable) 32 61 7 
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Q17c: I now want to read you a few reasons why some DO NOT want to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing reason to not pass the legislation: (Questions 23a through 23d; N=300, MoE ;t5.7%pts) 

In 2009, the Federal Railroad Administration found no factual evidence to support the 
prohibition against one-person operation of trains. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 16o/o 
Not that convincing .......................................................................... 78 
(VOL) Unsure ................................................................................... 6 

Gender Convincini: ~ ~ 

Men 19% 76 4 
Women 12 80 8 

~ Convincini: Not That ~ 

18-39 19 74 8 
40-64 13 84 2 
65 plus 14 75 11 

Education Convincini: Not That lI.!!!!!r! 

High School/Less 14 74 12 
Some College/ AA Degree 15 81 4 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 18 80 2 

Region ~onvincini: Not That Unsure 

East City 15 80 5 
West City 18 74 8 
East Rural 22 69 9 
Central Rural 12 83 5 
West Rural 10 86 4 

Pam Identification Cogvincini: ~ Unsure 

Democrat 19 78 3 
Independent 11 85 5 
Republican 20 70 10 

Ideology Coovigcioi: Not That Unsure 

Liberal 10 81 9 
Moderate 10 87 3 
Conservative 25 67 8 
Tea Party (Favorable) 20 73 7 
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Ql7d: I now want to read you a few reasons why some DO NOT want to see The Safe Freight Act 
become North Dakota law. For each one, tell me if you find it a convincing or not that 
convincing reason to not pass the legislation: (Questions 23a through 23d; N=300, MoE ;tS. 7%pts) 

The railroads say that two or more crew members in an engine may be a distraction to the 
engineer, causing loss of focus. 

Convincing ....................................................................................... 8°/o 
Not that convincing ............ .................................. ............................ 88 
(VOL) Unsure................................................................................... 4 

Gender Convincini:. Not That Unsure 

Men 8% 88 4 
Women 8 88 4 

Age Convin£ini:. Not That Unsure 

18-39 8 89 4 
40-64 8 89 4 
65 plus 8 87 5 

Education Convincini:. Not That Unsure 

High School/Less 8 84 9 
Some College/ AA Degree 5 93 2 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 11 88 0 

Region Convin£ini:. Not That Unsure 

East City 8 87 5 
West City 9 88 3 
East Rural 8 88 4 
Central Rural 9 87 4 
West Rural 4 92 4 

Pam Identification C2nvincini:. Not That Unsure 

Democrat 6 89 5 
Independent 7 90 4 
Republican 10 86 4 

Ideology Convincini:. Not That Unsure 

Liberal 2 90 8 
Moderate 9 89 3 
Conservative 8 87 5 
Tea Party (Favorable) 10 85 5 
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Q18: Now considering everything you just heard about the Safe Freight Act; suppose you could 
vote on the bill. Would you vote YES to pass the Safe Freight Act or would you voted NO, 
and reject The Safe Freight Act? 

Yes, pass ........................................................................................... 88% 
No, reject .......................................................................................... 6 
(VOL) Unsure ................................................................................... 5 

Gender X!l! Ng Unsure 

Men 83% 11 6 
Women 93 2 5 

Age Yes No Unsure 

18-39 87 8 6 
40-64 89 6 5 
65 plus 90 5 5 

Education X!l! Ng !l!!filu:! 

High School/Less 88 3 8 
Some College/ AA Degree 88 9 3 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 88 7 5 

Region Yes No !l!!filu:! 

East City 94 3 3 
West City 82 10 8 
East Rural 83 10 7 
Central Rural 92 7 1 
West Rural 87 4 9 

Pam Identification Yes No Unsure 

Democrat 93 3 3 
Independent 88 6 6 
Republican 85 9 5 

Ideology Yes No Unsure 

Liberal 92 2 6 
Moderate 91 4 5 
Conservative 84 11 5 
Tea Party (Favorable) 79 11 9 
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Q19: Generally speaking, when it comes to railroad safety, whom would you say you trust more 
to promote the right policies: railroad employees or railroad management? 

Railroad Employees ........................ ................................................... 72% 
Railroad Management ........................................................................ 19 
(VOL) Unsure I Both I Neither .......................................................... 9 

Gender Emp Mgmt Unsure 

Men 69% 23 8 
Women 76 15 10 

Age Emp Mgmt ~ 

18-39 71 20 9 
40-64 76 16 8 
65 plus 68 22 10 

Education Emp Mgmt Unsure 

High School/Less 71 18 11 
Some College/ AA Degree 72 21 7 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 74 16 10 

Region Emp Mgmt Unsure 

East City 67 21 12 
West City 77 15 8 
East Rural 75 21 4 
Central Rural 64 21 15 
West Rural 81 15 4 

Pam Identification Emp Mgmt ~ 

Democrat 77 16 7 
Independent 74 15 10 
Republican 66 25 9 

Ideology Emp Mgmt Unsure 

Liberal 76 17 7 
Moderate 73 16 11 
Conservative 71 22 7 
Tea Party (Favorable) 70 21 9 

Page 24 of25 



" 

• 

North Dakota Survey 
January,2015 

Prepared by DFM Research 

Q20: Rail labor unions are in support of the Safe Freight Act requiring a crew of two on all trains; 
which do you believe is their motive: to protect members' jobs, protect rail safety for the 
general public and members, or both jobs and public safety? 

Members' jobs ................... ................. .............. ................................ 12% 
Rail safety for public and members ............. ...................................... 11 
Both .................................................................................................. 73 
(VOL) Unsure ................................................................................... 4 

Gender Jobs Safety Both 

Men 19% 12 66 
Women 7 11 79 

Age ~ Safety Both 

18-39 13 11 73 
40-64 14 11 73 
65 plus 8 12 73 

Education Jobs Safety Both 

High School/Less 8 11 73 
Some College/ AA Degree 13 12 73 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 17 11 72 

Region ~ Safety Both 

East City 13 11 70 
West City 10 13 73 
East Rural 12 6 78 
Central Rural 13 15 71 
West Rural 13 12 73 

Pam Identification Jobs Safety Both 

Democrat 3 14 79 
Independent 13 10 72 
Republican 18 10 69 

Ideology ~ Safety Hfilh 
Liberal 8 20 66 
Moderate 7 12 78 
Conservative 18 8 70 
Tea Party (Favorable) 22 12 63 
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Testimony of Mike Muscha 

Before the House Transportation Committee 

In Support of HB 1357 
February 5, 2015 

Cha i rm a n  Ruby, Members of the Transportation Com mittee. My name is M i ke M uscha a nd I 'm 

here today testifying for, as I ca l l  it, my family of 25 (four chi ldren a nd their  wives a nd 15 
grandchi ldren) and for citizens across this  great state of North Dakota. 

Cha i rm a n  Ruby a nd members of this com mittee, if you wa nt to give you r  loved ones a chance 

to survive a tra in/vehicle crash, you wi l l  support H B  1357 to keep two persons on a tra in .  I'm 

retired n ow, but my personal experience is as a rai l road worker for nea rly 42 years, most of it 

as a locomotive engineer. I wi l l  explain why it is important to support this legislation. I wi l l  give 

you the facts a bout what it is l ike to run a tra i n  out there and how two crew membe rs in the 

cab cooperate to operate a tra i n  that's travel ing across the state in a safe m a nner. 

Fi rst off, I would l i ke to rem i nd you of the inclement weather we often must operate through 

as  we move our tra i ns across North Dakota. On Canadian Pacific Rai lway, we used to average 

7800 feet in length, but si nce I retired three yea rs ago, that length has has been increased to 

10,000 feet, nearly two m iles. Thi n k  a bout how many crossi ngs a tra i n  may occu py at this .gth .  And the most dangerous crossi ng is a blocked crossi ng in fou l  weather. 

I would l ike to briefly expla in  the a i r  system on a tra in .  From the locomotives to the rear car o n  

t h e  tra i n, w e  a re cou pled together by knuckles and a i r  hoses between each car that a l low the 

system to be charged up and a l low us to apply the brakes both in normal stops and in a n  

emergency a ppl ication. If there is a break i n  this a i r  system for a ny reason and the tra i n  goes 

i nto emergency, there is only one way to recover this a i r. The engineer m ust stay i n  the 

locomotive cab, a nd the other crew member must suit u p  a nd walk  the tra i n  to find the break 

i n  the air l ine, regardless of the weather  conditions. 

N ow, as we go down the track at speeds from 25 to 60 miles per hour on freight a nd 80 m p h  

on passenger tra ins here i n  North Dakota, I wi l l  tel l  you, w e  don't slow down due to weather. 

I magine holding a white sheet in front of you and goi ng 60 mph; that is  what it is  l ike to 

operate a tra i n  in dense fog. In snow storms the snow is swirl ing as we look back at our trains, 

a n d  we can see very l ittle. 

So now I get to my main  point. When our tra i n  goes into emergency brake appl ication, we do 

t know why; we only know that we have to recover the a i r. In adverse conditions, we may 

ot thi n k  we have been run i nto, but guess what we may discover as my partner wal ks back, 
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i nspecting the tra in?  I n  most cases, it is  just a n  a i r  hose fa i l u re, but someti mes it's not.  We 

may have col l ided with a veh icle.  

In the case of a vehicle crash, here is what happens: My pa rtner has now become the fi rst 

responder. U nder adverse conditions such as a bl izzard or heavy fog, there a re very few 

veh icles on the road .  Some of these roads go one way down a d riveway with access from o n ly 

one d i rection.  Some a re state h ighways with very l ittle traffic on them due to the weather. 

Of course, I feel very sorry for my pa rtner, but he or she has a job to do, and I have to stay with 

the locomotives. The second crew member must use good judgment, assess the situation, and 

relay to me by radio as m uch i nformation as possi ble. I then use the locomotive emergency 

rad io system and a lert the d ispatcher to sta rt the rescue squads, fi rst responders, etc. By now 

my pa rtner has let me know what crossings are b locked a nd hopefu l ly we ca n guide the 

responders to the best route to use to reach the accident scene.  My pa rtner wi l l  a lso relay to 

have me ask for permission from the dispatcher to move the tra i n, if possi ble, to better access 

the accident site. 

Remem ber, a tra i n/vehicle col l ision may be more l ikely occur u nder adverse conditions such as 

dense fog or  a snow storm and 30 below zero. And yes, as an engi neer, this has happened to 

me. My partner on the tra in  and I worked through it. Some of the crashes, we came away with 

better resu lts than others, but the good outcomes were only d ue to a second person being o 

that tra i n .  If a nybody i n  this  room th inks their loved one would have a better chance of 

surviva l after a tra i n/vehicle crash with one person on the tra in,  please ta l k  to me after the 

hea ri ng. 

Cha i rman R uby, mem bers of the committee, please join me and recommend a Do Pass on H B  

1357. 

I wi l l  a nswer a ny questions from the com mittee to the best of my abi l ity. 

M i ke M uscha 

Reti red Locomotive Engineer 
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BURLINGTON NORTHERN AND SAN­
TA FE RAILWAY COMPANY, Soo 
Line Railroad Company, Union Pacif­
ic Railroad Company, and Wisconsin 
Central Ltd., Plaintiffs-Appellants, 
Cross-Appellees, 

v. 

James E. DOYLE, Attorney General of 
Wisconsin, E. Michael McCarin, Dis­
trict Attorney of Milwaukee County, 
Thomas L. Storm, District Attorney of 
Fond du Lac County, et al., Defen­
dants-Appellees, Cross- Appellants, 

and 

United Transportation Union, In­
tervening Defendant-Appel­

lee, Cross-Appellant. 

Nos. 98--4057, 98-4149 and 98--4.166. 

United States Court of Appeals, 
Seventh Circuit. 

Argued May 19, 1999. 
Decided July 23, 1999. 

Railroads brought action against. Wis­
consin Attorney General and district attor-
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neys, seeking invalidation of Wisconsin's maintain it from the definition of "locomo­
"two-person crew" statute because Federal tive engineers," and, thus, from qualifica­
Railroad Administration (FRA) regulations tion requirements. 49 U.S.C.A. § 20106· 
allegedly preempted same safety concerns. W.S.A. 192.25(l)(a, b), (2); 49 C.F.R'. 
The United States District Court for the § 240.7. 
Eastern District of Wisconsin, J.P. Stadt­
mueller, Chief Judge, 24 F.Supp.2d 928, 
held that parts of statute requiring certain 
qualifications for engineers and train crew 
members were preempted, but that part 
requiring two-person crews was not. On 
cross-appeals, the Court of Appeals, Man­
ion, Circuit Judge, held that: (1) qualifica­
tion requirements for locomotive engineers 
and trainmen and requirement that a loco­
motive engineer be at the controls of mov­
ing locomotive were preempted by federal 
regulations; (2) statute's "two-person 
crew" requirement was preempted insofar 
as it banned one-person hostling and help­
er movements; (3) statute's prohibiting 
one-person crews on over-the-road opera­
tions was not preempted by FRA regula­
tions; and (4) statute's preempted provi­
sions were severable from two-person crew 
requirement for operations that were nei­
ther hostling nor helper service. 

Affirmed in part :md reversed in part. 

1. Federal Courts <5=>776 
Federal preemption is a question of 

statutory interpretation, which the Court 
of Appeals reviews de novo. 

2. States <5=>18.9 
Preemption does not depend on a sin­

gle federal regulation itself covering the 
subject matter of the state law. 

3. Raih·oads <5=>230 
States <5=>18.21 

Provisions of Wisconsin's "two-person 
crew'' statute establishing qualification re-· 
quirements for locomotive engineers and. 

trainmen and requiring that an engineer 
be at the controls of the locomotive any 
time it moved were preempted by federal 
regulation, which excluded ·persons who 
moved locomotives up to 100 feet in a 
repair or servicing area to inspect and 

4. Railroads <5=>230 
States <5=>18.21 

Provision of Wisconsin statute requir­
ing at least two crew members on the train 
or locomotive whenever it was moving was 
preempted insofar as it banned one-person 
hostling movements, involving short dis­
tance in train yards, and helper move­
ments, which involve light ascending or 
descending movements; Federal Railroad 
Administration's (FRA) so-called "blue sig­
nal" regulations permitted one-person 
crews to perform hostling and helper 
movements, and FRA's decision to sus­
pend added safety requirements for cer­
tain one-person operations were final dis­
positions of its position on the matter. 49 
U.S.C.A. § 20106; W.S.A. 192.25(2); 49 
C.F.R. § 218.24. 

5. Railroads <5=>223 
When the Federal Railroad Adminis­

tration (FRA) examines a safety concern 
regarding an activity and affirmatively de­
cides that no regulation is needed, this has 
the effect of being an order that the activi­
ty is permitted. 

6. Railroads e=>230 

States <5=>18.21 
Provision of Wisconsin statute prohib­

iting one-person crews on over-the-road 
operations was not preempted by Federal 
Railroad Administration (FRA) regula­
tions; FRA's decisions regarding blue sig­
nal protection for one-person crews 
showed that the agency considered and 
decided the issue lwith regard to hostling 
and helper operations only. W.S.A. 

192.25(2). 

7. Railroads .<5=>230 

States <5=>18.21 
Federal Raih-oad Administration's 

(FRA) safety compliance agreements with 
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' railroad did not negate FRA's position on 
operations of one-person crews expressly 
covered by the agreements, for purposes 
of federal preemption analysis, even 
though agreements were temporary and 
FRA was evaluating and revising its posi­
tion. 49 U.S.C.A. § 20106. 

8. Railroads e::>223 
States e::>18.21 

Federal Railroad Administration's 
(FRA) affirmative decision that a specific 
activity should be permitted, even if just so 
that it can be studied, is a final disposition 
approving the activity, for purposes of fed­
eral preemption analysis. 49 U.S.C.A. 
§ 20106.· 

9. Railroads e::>230 
States <"?18.21 

Federal Railroad Administration's 
(FRA) approval of a test program for re­
mote control devices in a particular opera­
tion with a one-person crew preempted 
state regulation of one-person crews for 
remote control operation of locomotive. 49 
U.S.C.A. § 20106. 

10. Statutes <"?64(2) 
Preempted provisions of Wisconsin's 

"two-person crew'' statute were severable 
from two-person crew requirement for op­
erations that were neither hostling nor 
helper service. W.S.A. ' 192.25(2), 
990.001(11). 

11. Federal Courts e::>386 
Whether invalid provisions in a state 

law can be severed from the whole to 
preserve the rest is a question of state law. 
W.S.A. 990.001(11). 

Jon P. Axelrod, Dewitt, Ross & Steveps, 
Madison, Wl, Ronald M. Johnson (argued), 
Akin, Gump, Strauss, Hauer & Feld, 

Washington, DC, for Plaintiffs-AppellantB, 
Cross-Appellees. 

James E. Doyle, pro se, Office of Attor­
ney General, ·Wisconsin Department of 
Justice,. Madison, WI, for Defendants-Ap­
pellees and Defendants. · 

Thomas C. Bellavia (argued), Office of 
Attorney General, Wisconsin Department 
of Justice, Madison, WI, for Defendants­
Appellees and Defendants-Appellants. 

Marilyn Townsend, Madison, Wl, Law­
rence M. Mann (argued), Alper, Mann & 
Weisbaum, Washington, DC, for United 
Transportation Union. 

Thomas L. Smallwood, Borgelt, Powell, 
Peterson & F~auen, Milwaukee, WI, for 
Association of American Railroads, Amicus 
Curiae, Amencan Short Line and Regional 
Railroad Association, Amicus Curiae and 
American Short Line Raikoad Association, 
Amicus Curiae. 

Susan K. Ullman, Office · of Attorney 
General, Wisconsin Department of Justice, 
Madison, WI, for Defendanfu-Appellants. 

Before WOOD, JR., FLAUM, and 
MANION, Circuit Judges. 

MANION, Circuit Judge. 

The plaintiffs, four railroads that oper­
ate in Wisconsin, sued the Wisconsin at­
torney general and three county district 
attorneys seeking ·a declaration that a 
Wisconsin law requiring train crews to 
consist of at least two persons and also 
requiring crew members. to have certain 
qualifications is preempted by federal reg­
ulations promulgated under the Federal 
Rail Safety Act, 49 U.S.C. § 20101 et seq. 
The United Transportation Union, which 
represents nearly a.II unionized trainmen 
in the United States, intervened as a de­
fendant. The district court decided the 
case on cross motions for summary judg­
ment. It held that the parts of the statute 
requiring certain qualifications for engi­
neers and train crew members were 
preempted, but held that the part requir­
ing two-person crews was not. The rail-

roads appeal from the ntling regarding 
the two-person crew requirement. We dis­
agree with the district court's conclusion 
that the two-person crew requirement is 
preempted in no circumstances. We hold 
that federal regulations have approved the 

.•;. 

BURLINGTON NORTHERN AND SANTA FE RY. CO .• YLE 793 Cite as 186 F.3d 790 (7th Cir. 1999) 

use of one-person crews in two types of vidual shall be either a certified 
operations but not in a third. Thus, Wis- railroad locomotive engineer or .a 
consin's two-person crew requirement is qualified railroad trainman. A cer-

. preempted in part. The defendants cross- tified railroad locomotive engineer. 
appeal from the finding that the statute's shall operate the control locomotive 
crew qualification provisions are preempt- at all times that the railroad train 
ed. We agree with the district court. We or locomotive is in motion. The 
also hold that the state law is severable, so other crew member may dismount 
that the part that is not preempted can the railroad train or locomotive 
survive on its own. We therefore affirm when necessary to perform switch-
the judgment of the district court in part ing activities and other duties in the 
and reverse in part. course of his or her job. 

I. 

A. Wisconsin's Two-Person Crew Law 
and This Suit 

On December 15, 1997, Wisconsin enact­
ed Wis. Stat. § 192.25 to regulate the qual­
ifications of train crew members and to 
require at least two persons in all train 
crews. In its entirety, the statute pro­
vides: 

(1) In this section: 
(a) "Certified raikoad locomotive en-
gineer" means a person certified un­
der 49 CFR 240 as a train service 
engineer, locomotive servicing engi­
neer or student engineer. 
(b) "Qualified railroad trainman" 
means a person who has successfully · 
completed a railroad carrier's training 
program and passed an examination 
on railroad operation rules. 

(3)(a) The office, by rule, may grant an 
exception to sub. (2) if the office 
determines that the exception will 
not endanger the life or property 
of any person. 

(b) Subsection (2) does not apply to the 
extent it is contrary to or inconsis­
tent with a regulation or order of the· 
federal railroad administration. 

(4)Any person who violates sub. (2) may 
be required to forfeit not less 
than $25 nor more than $100 for 
a first offense, not less than $100 
nor more than $500 for a 2nd 
offense committed within 3 
yea.rs, and not less than $500 nor 
more than $1,000 for a 3rd of­
fense committed within 3 years. 

Section 192.25 was to become effective 
January 1, 1998. On December 31, 1997, 
the plaintiffs filed this suit, naming the 
Wisconsin Attorney General and three 
county district attorneys as defendants.1 

(For convenience, we will refer to these 
defendants as ''Wisconsin.") Three of the 
plaintiffs are large, national railroads: 

(2) No person operating or controlling 
any railroad, as defined in s. 
85.01(5), may allow the operation of 
any railroad train or locomotive in 
this State unless the railroad train Burlington Northern & Santa Fe R~way 
or locomotive has a c~ew of at least Company, Soo Line Railroad Company, 
2 individuals. One of the individu- and Union Pacific Railroad · Company. 
a.ls shall be a certified railroad loco- The fourth plaintiff 'is a smaller, regional 
motive engineer. The other indi- railroad: WiSconsin Central Lirnited.2 

l. The defendants are James E. Doyle, Wiscon­
sin Attorney General. E. Michael McCann, 
District Attorney of Milwaukee County, Thom­
as L. Storm, District Attorney of Fond du Lac 
County, and David Blank, District Attorney of 
Douglas County. Each defendant was sued in 
his individual and official capacities. 

2. Two associations to which the plaintiffs be- ~\)" 
long filed an amicus curiae brief in this court 
and the district court. The Association of 
American Railroads (AAR) is a trade associa- f'\. 
tion whose members are large freight rail- ~ 
roads and the Nationai Railroad Passenger 
Corporation (Amtrak). Its members include 
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Each plaintiff operates in Wisconsin. The 
complaint alleged that regulations promul­
gated under the Federal Rail Safety Act 
preempted § 192.25, and that the statut_e 
violated the federal . .and Wisconsin consti­
tutions. The plaintiffs sought declaratory 
and injunctive relief. The parties agreed 
that Wisconsin would not enforce the stat­
ute in part pending the outcome of this 
litigation, or until December 31, 1998. 
(The parties have not informed us whether 
they have agreed to continue the stay.) 
The United Transportation Union (UTU) 
later intervened as a defendant. The par­
ties filed cross motions for summary judg­
ment, and subsequently stipulated that the 
plaintiffs would dismiss without prejudice 
the counts raising constitutional issues. 
The district court. granted each side sum­
mary judgment in part. The court held 
that § 192.25's crew qualification require­
ments were preempted by federal law but 
held that its requirement for two-person 
crews was not. The parties have ea.ch 
appealed parts of the district court's deci­
sion. 

B. FRSA Preemption 
[1] "[T]he Laws of the United States 

... shall be the supreme Law of the Land 

... any Thing in the Constitution or Laws 
of any State to the Contrary notwithstand­
ing." U.S. Const., Art. VI, cl. 2. Federal 
law, therefore, preempts state law. The 
Supreme Court summarized how the 
courts are to analyze preemption issues: 

In the interest of avoiding unintended 
encroachment on the authority of states, 
however , a court interpreting a federal 
statute pertaining to a subject tradition­
ally governed by state law· will be reluc-

plaintiffs Burlington Northern, Soo Line, and 
Union Pacific. AAR' s members represent the 
substantial majority of all rail freight in the 
United States. The second amicus, the Amer­
ican Sbort Line and Regional Railroad Asso­
ciation (ASLRRA), is a trade association 
whose members are small and medium sized 
regional freight railroads. ASLRRA's mem­
bers include plaintiff Wisconsin Central ai;d 
two other regional railroads that operate in 

Wisconsin . 

tant to find preemption. Thus, preemp­
tion will not lie unless it is the clear and 
manifest purpose of Congress. Evi­
dence of preemptive purpose is sought 
in the text and structure of the statute 
at issue. If the statute contains an ex­
press preemption clause, the task of 
statutory construction must in the first 
instance focus on the plain wording of 
the clause, which necessarily contains 
the best evidence of Congress' preemp­
tive intent. 

CSX Transportation, Inc. v. Easterwood, 
507 U.S. 658, 663-64, 113 S.Ct. 1732, 123 
L.Ed.2d 387, (1993) (citations and internal 
quotations omitted). Because fed~ral pre­
emption is a question of statutory interpre­
tation, we review this issue de novo. 

In response to a perceived need for com­
prehensive rail safety regulation, Cur:gress 
passed the Federal Rail Safety Act of 1970 
(FRSA), as amended 49 U.S.C. § 20101 et 
seq.3 The purpose of the FRSA was to 
"promote safety in every area of railroad 
operations and reduce railroad-related ac­
cidents and incidents." 49 U.S.C. § 20101. 
Thus, the Secretary of Transportation was 
given broad power to regulate and a man­
date to use that power: "The Secretary of 
Transportation, as necessary, shall pre­
scribe regulations ahd issue orders for ev­
ery area of railroad safety." 49 U.S.~. 
§ 20103~ The Secretary regulates rail 
safety through the Federal Railroad Ad­
ministration (FRA). The FRSA also ad­
vanced the goal of national uniformity of 
regulation because one of its provisions 
expressly preempts state laws regulating 
rail safety. 49 U.S.C. § 20106. Because 
the FRSA contains an express preemption 
provision, our task principally is to apply 

3. FRSA was formerly codified at 45 U.S.C. 
§ 42 J et seq. but was recodified without sub­
stantive change in Title 49 as part of a recodi­
fication of rail safety laws in 1994. See Pub. 
L. No. 103-272. Many prior court decisions 
interpreting FRSA refer to th~ prior . U.S . 
Code sections. FRSA's preemption provision, 
49 U.S.C. § 20106, was codified at 45 U.S.C. 
§ 434. 
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the provision according to its terms. Sec­
tion 20106 provides: 

Laws, regulations, and orders related 
to railroad safety shall be nationally uni­
form to the extent practicable. .A state 
may adopt or continue in force a law, 
regulation, or order related to railroad 
safety until the Secretary of Transporta­
tion prescribes a regulation or issues an 
order covering the subject matter of the 
state requirement. A state may adopt 
or continue in force an additional or 
more stringent law, regulation, or order 
related to railroad safety when the law, 
regulation or order-

(1) is necessary to eliminate or re­
duce an essentially local safety haz­
ard; 

(2) is not incompatible with a law, 
regulation, or order of the United 
States Government; and 

(3) does not unreasonably burden 
interstate commerce. 

Under this scheme, then, state regulations 
can fill gaps· where the Secretary has not 
yet. regulated, and it can respond to safety 
concerns of a local· rather than national 
character. Wisconsin does not justify 
§ 192.25 as a response to a local safety 
hazard, so the precise issue before us is 
whether the Secretary "prescribe[d] a reg­
ulation or issue[ d] an order covering the 
subject matter" of . § 192.25. This issue 
requires us to answer three sub-issues: 
What is the "subject matter" of the state 
requirement? What action by the. Secre­
tary a.moilnts to issuing an "order"? 
("Prescrib[ing] a regulation" is a clear 
enough term.) When does such an order 
or regulation "cover" the subject matter of 
a state requirement? 

[2] The third question is the most easi­
ly answered because in Easterwood the 
Supreme Court thoroughly analyzed when 
FRA regulations "cover" the subject mat-

ter of a state requirement. Noting that 
"cover" was a somewhat restrictive term, 
the Court held that "[the party asserting 
preemption] must establish more than that 
[the regulations] 'touch upon' or 'relate to' 

the subject matter.. . pre-emption will lie 
only if the federal regulations substantially 
subsume the subject matter of the relevant 
state law." 507 U.S. at 664-65, 113 S.Ct. 
1732 (c~tations omitted). Jmportantly, pre­
emption do.es not depend on a single feder­
al regulati<;m itself covering the subject 
matter of the state law. In Easterwood 
the Court found preemption. by examining 
"related safety regulations" and "the con­
text of the overall structure of the regula­
tions." Id. at 674, 113 S.Ct. 1732. 

What constitutes an "order" for FRSA 
preemption is less clear. This term is 
not defined in the FRSA, and the Su­
preme Court has not had occasion to de-
fine it. The district court relied upon 
the definition of "order" in the Adminis­
trative Procedures Act, 5 U.S.C. 
§ 551(6), which defines an order to in­
clude "a final disposition, whether affir­
mative, negative, injunctive, or declarato-
ry in form[,] . . . other than rulema.king:" 
Certainly if an agency action constitutes 
an "order" under the APA definition, it 
would be an order for FRSA preemption. 
Because the actions in this case fit the 
APA definition, we need not decide 
whether an action that does not fit that 
definition could nonetheless be an order 
under § 20106. But we also note that 
"final disposition" includes informal deci­
sions. See Atchiso'n, Topeka & S. F. 
R.R. v. Pena, 44 F.3d 437, 441 (7th Cir. 
1994) (en bane) (letter from the FRA's 
Chief Counsel announcing change in the 
FRA's interpretation of law was "final 
agency action" because letter made the 
FRA's position "absolutely clear"), ajfd. 
sub nom. Brotherhood of Locomotive En­
gineers v. Atchison, T. & S. F.R.R., 516 
U.S. 152, 116 S.Ct. 595, 133 L.Ed.2d 535 
(1996) (not addressing issue of "final 
agency action"); see also United Tmnsp. 
Union v. Lewis, 711 F.2d 233, 240 (D.C . ..t::: 
Cir.1983) (court reviewed agency's inter­
pretation of law expressed in letter).~ 
For preemption, the important thing is 1 .J 
that the FRA considered a subject mat-~ 
ter and made a decision regarding it. 
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The particular form of the decision is not 
dispositive. 

"The subject matter of the state require­
ment" is the safety concerns that the state 
law addresses. See Burlington Northern 
R.R. v. Montana, 880 F.2d 1104, 1106 (9th 
Cir.1989) ("[The FRSA] preempts all state 
regulations aimed at the same safety con­
cerns addressed by FRA regulations."). 
Generally, determining the safety concerns 
that a state or federal requirement is 
aimed at will necessarily involve some level 
of generalization that requires backing 
away somewhat from the specific provi­
sions at issue. See Slwts v. CSX Transp., 
Inc., 38 F.3d 304, 307 (7th Cir.1994) (in 
analyzing preemption of state negligence 
claim for inadequate warning device at rail 
crossing, court referred to "subject matter 
of highway safety at that crossing"). Oth­
erwise a state law could be preempted only 
if there were an identical federal regula­
tion, and, as we noted, Easterwood teaches 
that this is not so. See 507 U.S. at 674, 
113 S.Ct. 1732 (preemption found through 
series of related regulations and overall 
structure of the regulations, although no 
regulation directly addressed the state re­
quirement); see also Burlington Northern 
R.R., 880 F .2d at 1106 (FRA regulation 
permitting telemetry device rather than 
visual inspection preempted state Jaw re­
quiring trains to have a caboose because 
both were aimed at the safety concern of 
monitming brakes and signals at the rear 
of the train). But with too much generaliz­
ing-"public safety" or "rail safety"-our 
analysis would be meaningless because all 
FRA regulations cover those concerns. 

II. 

A. Whether Section 192.25's Crew 
Qualification Requirements Are 
Preempted 

The broad safety concern that § 192.25 
is aimed at is ensuring that a train or 
locomotive crew can operate safely. The 

· statute addresses this broad concern by 
addressing two related concerns: (1) who 
is qualified to operate a train or locomotive 

safely, and (2) what is the minimum num­
ber of crew persons needed to operate a 
train or locomotive safely. This section of 
our opinion addresses the statute's provi­
sions regarding the first concern, and the 
next section addresses the statute's provi­
sions regarding the second concern. 

[3] The statute addresses who is quali­
fied to · operate a train in three ways: 
§ 192.25(1)(a) requires certain qualifica­
tions for a "Certified railroad locomotive 
engineer"; § 192.25(1)(b) requires certain 
qualifications for a "Qualified railroad 
trainman"; and § 192.25(2) requires that a 
certified raih'oad locomotive engineer op­
erate the controls of the locomotive any 
time the train or locomotive is moving. 
Federal regulations clearly cover the sub­
ject matter of these requirements. Sec­
tion 192.25(1)(a.) itself expressly incorpo­
rates the numerous federal regulations in 
49 C.F.R. part 240 that set the qualifica­
tions of an engineer. Section 192.25(1)(b) 
requires that a trainman be instructed and 
tested in the railroad's aperating proce­
dures, and the training of railroad employ­
ees is covered by federal regulations. See, 
e.g., 49 C.F.R. § 217.ll(c) (requires tests 
of employees). In the face of the federal 
regulations, Wisconsin argues that these 
provisions are not preempted not because 
the federal regulations do not cover the 
subject matter of the state requirements, 
but because the state statute does not 
impose contradictory requirements. The 
short answer to this argument is that the 
text of§ 20106 provides that a state may 
enforce a law "related . to railroad safety 
until the Secretary of Transportation pre­
scribes a regulation or issues an order 
covering the subject matter of the state 
requirement." (Emphasis supplied.) This 
language does not distinguish between 
contradictory state requirements and 

me~ely duplicative state requirements. 
We previously stated: 

If the Secretary promulgates a regula­
tion that covers the subject matter of 
some state safety requirement, the state 
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requirement must give way (with an in- and, sometimes, by the terms of the rail­
a~plicable ~ceptio~) even if there is no road's collective bargaining agreements. 
direct conflict, that 1s, even if the federal Generally trains operate with two or three 
and state requirements would not place crew members: an engineer and a conduc­
the railroad under conflicting duties. tor and (possibly) a brakeman ~ (The crew 

Shots, 38 F.3d at 307. Moreover, Wiscon- members are sometimes called "train­
sin's requirement that an engineer be at men.'!) Prior to the demise of the steam 
the controls of the locomotive any time it locomotive, at least two crew members 
moves does directly conflict with a federal were needed in the locomotive itself: the 
regulation: 49 C.F.R. § 240.7, which ex- engineer and the fireman. But with the 
clu~es from the defuiltion of locomotive advent of diesel locomotives, the engineer 
en~eers-and t~ms ~he . requirement to can operate the locomotive by himself, and 
satisfy all qualificat10ns-persons . who in some operations, a conductor or brake­
move the locomotive up to 100 feet in a man is not essential. Thus some railroads 
rep.air . or . servicing area to inspect :·and operate trains with only on~ crew member 
mamtain it. These three provisions of in three · different situations that are rele­
§ 192.25 are therefore preempted by the 
federal regulations. 

B. Whether § 192.25's Two-Person 
Crew Requirement Is Preempted 

1. General Background 

Section 192.25(2) also requires that at 
least two crew members be on the train or 
locomotive whenever it is moving, although 
it permits the second crew member to 
dismount the train to perform tasks such 
as switching and coupling or uncoupling. 
This provision expresses Wisconsin's con­
clusion that lone engineer and remote con­
trol operations are always · unsafe. There 
is no federal regulation directly addressing 
when lone engineer or remote control op­
erations are safe; if there were, this would 
be an easier case. So, as Easterwood 
teaches, we have to examine all related 
regulations and orders to see if the FRA 
has determined when these operations 
may be done. The parties make all-or­
nothing arguments regarding the two-per­
son crew requirement. That is, they ar­
gue either that the FRA has approved all 
one-person crew operations, or that it has 
approved none. We think a more flexible 
analysis is required because one-person 

crews are used in various types of opera­
tions that differ from each other consider­
ably. 

The number of crew persons on a train 
is determined by the operating conditions 

~ant to" this case: "hostling" movements, 
helper movements, and "over-the-road" 

movements. "Hostling" movements involve 
short distances at a train yard. After the 
train has arrived at the yard and its cars 
are uncoupled, an employee, called a "hos­
tler," will often move the locomotive to 
another area. Locomotive movements 
without any attached cars , are called 
"light" movements. "Helper" movements 
are another type of light movement. 
Sometimes a train will have to ascend or 
descend a restrictive grade that requires 
more locomotive power than it has. To 
assist it over the grade, a "helper" locomo-
tive is sent from the yard and connects to 
the front or back of the train, which then 
is able to make the ascent or descent. 
Afterwards, the helper locomotive is un­
coupled and returns to the yard. Finally, 
"over-the-road" movements involve hauling 
train cars between terminals. Presently it 
appears· that none of the plaintiffs uses 
one-person crews for over-the-road move­
ments in Wisconsin. Under their current 
collective bargaining agreements, Burling-
ton Northern, Soo Line, and Union Pacific 
cannot use one-person crews for any over­
the-road movements. They state that they <.J\ 
would consider doing so when and if they e_. 
are a~l~ to negotiate a change to theit'"-1-) 
bargammg agreements. Wisconsin Cen-
tral previously used one-person crews for 
over-the-road movements in Wisconsin, 
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but its use of them has been dictated by 
the terms of safety agreements with the 
FRA. 

The FRA has had several occasions in 
the 1990's to review the safety of some 
aspects of one-person crews. To decide 
the extent to which § 192.25's two-person 
crew requirement has been preempted, we 
must examine the FRA's various orders 
and regulations and determine whether 
they have "covered" the subject matter of 
safety for one-person crews in any of these 
different types of operations. 

2. Federal Regulations and Orders 
Regarding Train Crew Size 

a. The Blue Signal Regulations 

In 1993, the FRA promulgated a new 
rule regarding "utility employees" tempo­
rarily assigned to work with train or yard 
crews. Some background is necessary to 
understand the FRA's rule-making. ' Since 
1970, the FRA's regulations had distin­
guished "train and yard crews" from 
"workers."4 The former were the engi­
neers, conductors, and brakemen who 
were assigned to a particular train-"roll­
ing equipment." ''Workmen" were em­
ployees who were not a part of a particular 
crew but whose job required them to work 
on, under, or between rolling equipment 
doing such things as inspecting or repair­
ing locomotives and cars. When a worker 
was working on, under, or between rolling 
equipment, he was required to comply with 
certain "blue signal" rules found in 29 
C.F.R. part 218. Essentially, the worker 
posted a blue flag or sign on or near the 
train. No one could then move the train 
until he had found the worker who posted 
the blue signal and verified that the work­
er was not in danger when the train 
moved. Train and yard crew members 
were generally excluded from the blue sig­
nal requirement. The logic of the rule is 

simply that one of the greatest dangers to 
an employee working around rolling equip­
ment is that the equipment might move 

4. Actually the regulations first called these 
employees "workmen." but that term was 

unexpectedly because of a lack of commu­
nication between the crew and a worker. 
Because train and yard crews work togeth­
er as a team and keep in constant commu­
nication, there is much less danger of the 
engineer unexpectedly moving the train 
while another crewman is, for example, 
uncoupling a car. 

In 1993, however, the FRA modified its 
regulations to account for substantial 
changes in the tYJ>ical size of train crews, 
and the development of a new type of 
employee: the "utility employee." In an­
nouncing the new regulation, the FRA 
stated: 

Since promulgation of the regulation [in 
1970), the size of train and yard crews 
has been significantly reduced through 
the collectiv.e bargaining process and in­
creased operating efficiencies. Imple­
mentation of the recommendations of 
Presidential Emergency Board No. 219 
("PEB 219") (see Pub. L. No. 102-29, 
1991) is greatly accelerating this pro­
cess. Through this and prior processes, 
crews that once consisted of a locomo­
tive engineer, firem·an, conductor, and 
two trainmen, have in many cases been 
reduced to a locomotive engineer and 
conductor only. 

58 Fed.Reg. 43288. As the crew sizes 
decreased, many railroads began using 
"utility employees" who were attached 
temporarily to train and yard crews. Un­
der the prior regulations, there was confu­
sion and disagreement about whether 
these utility employees were train and 
yard crew members, thus excluded from 
the blue signal requirement, or were work­
ers who were not. After studying the 
situation, in 1993 the FRA changed the 
regulations to expressly account for the 
changes in the industry. The new regula­
tions defined train and yard crews, utility 

employees, and workers, and set out when 
each was subject to the blue signal re­
quirement. In so doing, the FRA recog-

changed to "worker" in 1993. We use the 
current term for convenience. 
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nized that sometimes train or yard crews tioned the FRA for reconsideration. On 
had only one person, and it adopted a March 1, 1995, the FRA announced an 
different standard for such crews. amendment to the rule. 60 Fed.Reg. 

The regulations provided that a utility 11047. The FRA summary stated "[t]he 
employee could be part of train and: yard amendment will permit single-person 
crews, and so excluded from the blue sig- crews to work .within the protections pro­
nal requirement, only when an engineer vided for train and yard crews." Id. The 
was at the controls of the locomotive, or at FRA expressed its continued concern 
least in the cab. 29 C.F.R. § 218.22(c) & ''with the unique risk faced by lone engi­
(e). The FRA .explained that "[t]he pres- neers despite the current lack of evidence 
ence and vigilance of the engineer at the of a substantial injury record for one­
controls (or, at the very least, in the cab) member crews. An engineer assigned to 
of the controlling locomotive is essential." helper or hostler service must frequently 
58 Fed.Reg. 43291. The FRA permitted, perform work, such as placing rear end 
however, another member of the train or markers or making connections between 
yard crew to go into the cab if the engi- locomotives, that puts that employee in 
neer had to perform some function outside. danger, particularly when this work is per­
[ d. The notice also explained: formed in congested terminals and rail 

A single locomotive engineer in helper yards." 60 Fed.Reg. 11047,. 11048. So the 
service, or a single hostler may not take FRA issued a new regulation,. 49 C.F.R. 
advantage of the exclusion from blue § 218.24, which permitted a lone engineer 
signal protection unless joined by a utili- to work on, under, or between rolling 
ty employee. Absent a crew member to stock without blue signal protection only if 
monitor the locomotive, blue signal pro- certain specified conditions were met. 
tection is required. The regulation also covered how a single 

Id. The exclusion of single-person train engineer in helper service would communi­
and yard crews from the blue signal pro- cate with the crew he was assisting and 
tection was noted only in the preamble to how the two crews would go about moving 
the new rule, not in the text itself. The their respective trains. In response to 
FRA later explained why it had done so: this new rule for one-person crews, the 
. FRA's notice of proposed rule making FRA received numerous comments and 
· requested comment on the protection petitions. After reviewing them, the FRA 
needed for a single locomotive engineer suspended the regulation as of its effective 
performing helper or hostler service.,' , . date, May 15, 1995. 60 Fed. Reg. 30469. 
Protecting one-member crews was The FRA also reopened the comment peri­
therefore within the scope of the notice. od on the amendment "regarding only the 
FRA chose not to address the subject in issue of one-person crews" and ·the com­
rule text because no comments were ment period is apparently still open. 
received. In the preamble to the final 
rule, however, FRA expressed discom­
fort with one-member crews. It was 
stated that a lone engineer could not 
take advantage of the exclusion from 
blue signal protection unless joined by a 
utility employee to ensure that the loco-

motive cab was always occupied. 
60 Fed.Reg. 11047. 

In response to the preamble's making 
one-person train and yard crews subject to 
the blue signal requirement, the AAR peti-

b. The Wheeling & Lake Erie Remote 
Control Test Program 

By 1993 some railroads had begun using 
remote control devices with their one-per-
son crews. These devices permitted a Ion~ 
engineer working out.side the cab to move 

the locomotive. Thus, a lone enginee 
would be able to perform a task that previ--S::\ 
ously would have required the engineer to 
be in the cab moving the locomotive and 
communicating by radio with another crew 
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of these devices raised some significant 
regulatory compliance issues. In January 
1993, the Wheeling & Lake Erie Railway 
Company petitioned the FRA for waivers 
from certain regulatory requirements so 
that it could use remote control devices 
with lone engineers. The FRA invited 
comment, conducted a public hearing, and 
then on November 18, 1994, issued a notice 
that it would conduct a two-year test pro­
gram for remote control devices involving 
Wheeling & Lake Erie, although it encour­
aged other railroads to join the test pro­
gram. 59 Fed. Reg. 59826. The FRA 
allowed the continued use of remote con­
trol devices by other railroads only if they 
participated in the two-year test program. 
59 Fed. Reg. 59827. The UTU petitioned 
the FRA to prohibit any use of remote 
control devices, but the FRA denied that 
petition. See 61 Fed. Reg. 58737. 

c. Wisconsin Central's Use of One-Per­
son Crews for Over-the-Road Move­
ments, Use of Remote Controls, and 
the FRA's Review 

In 1996, Wisconsin Central proposed ex­
panding its use of one-person crews for 
some over-the-road movements on four 
new routes. (At the time Wisconsin Cen­
tral used one-person crews on four other 
routes.) On April 25, 1996, the UTU peti­
tioned the FRA for an emergency order 
banning Wisconsin Central from using 
one-person crews for any over-the-road 
movements. (The FRA has not yet ruled 
on this petition.) The FRA then began 
reviewing Wisconsin Central's use of one­
person crews and asked it not to expand 
its use of one-person crews for over-the­
road movement during the review period. 
Wisconsin Central agreed. 

In a May 8, 1996, letter to Wisconsin 

Central, the FRA stated: 
We are aware that other railroads, as 
well as your own, currently operate one­
person trains. F<lr the most part, these 
operations are short, slow trains. You 
intend, however, to move mixed frei~ht 

over long distances in these four routes. 
As you no doubt realize, your proposed 
operations are novel, and pose many 
complex problems. 
Although there are no available data 
proving one-person crews are unsafe, 
there are also no data showing opera­
tions of the type you propose to be 
safe .... 

The FRA listed a number of safety con­
cerns and directed Wisconsin Central to 
submit an action plan detailing its operat­
ing standards for one-person crews and 
addressing these issues. The FRA ap­
proved Wisconsin Central's continued use 
of one-person crews on the four existing 
routes ,while the FRA studied the matter. 

In September 1996, Wisconsin Central 
notified the FRA that it wanted to begin 
using remote control devices to move loco­
motives at two of its rail yards in Wiscon­
sin. On September 17, 1996, the UTU 
petitioned the FRA for an emergency or­
der banning the use of remote control 
devices not only by Wisconsin Central but 
by all railroads. (The FRA has not yet 
ruled on this petition either.) On Novem­
ber 18, 1996, the FRA announced that it 
would conduct public hearings in Wiscon­
sin on the issue of Wisconsin Central's use 
of one-person crews and the use of remote 
control devices in general. The hearings 
were held on December 4 and 5, 1996, in 
Appleton, Wisconsin. Numerous persons 
testified regarding the safety of one-per­
son crews and remote control devices, in­
cluding then-Wisconsin State Representa­
tive John Dobyns. Dobyns admitted he 
was no expert on railroads, but opined that 
one-person crews and remote control de­
vices were not safe. · Shortly after testify­
ing at the FRA hearings, Dobyns intro­
duced the bill that eventually became 
§ 192.25. 

On January 10, 1997, the FRA wrote a 

letter to Wisconsin Central in which it 
indicated that it was reviewing the issues 
raised at the December hearings. The 
FRA permitted Wisconsin Central to con­
tinue with its then-current use of one-
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person crews, but told it to wait until a 
final FRA decision before expanding its 
use of · one-person crews. The FRA did 
bar Wisconsin Central from implementing 
remote controlled operations, however. 
Due to a high accident rate, the FRA 
began conducting a broad study of all of 
Wisconsin Central's operations. On Feb­
ruary 8, 1997, Wisconsin Central and the 
FRA entered into a Safety Compliance 
Agreement. The agreement permitted 
Wisconsin Central to continue using one­
person crews for light movements, that 
is,locomotive only, but not for over-the­
road movements, and it prohibited Wiscon­
sin Central from using remote control de­
vices. Those restrictions did not apply to 
Wisconsin Central's Port Inland, Michigan, 
terminal. This agreement ended after 12 
months and was replaced with a new Safe­
ty Compliance Agreement. The new 
agreement praised Wisconsin Central for 
its compliance with the prior agreement 
and as a result expanded slightly the types 
of one-person crew movements that Wis­
consin Central could conduct. The second 
agreement also had a 12-month term, 
which has now expired. The record is 
silent as to whether Wisconsin Central has 
entered into another agreement. 

3. The Preemptive Effect of The Fed­
eral Orders and Regulations 

[4] As we noted above, the record 
shows that there are three different kinds 
of one-person crew operations: hostling 
movements, helper movements, and over­
the-road movements. As we discuss in 
detail below, on this record, we conclude 
that the FRA has issued final disposi­
tions-"regulations" · and "orders" under 
§ 20106-permitting one-person crews to 
perform hostling and helper movements, 
but has not done so for one-person over­
the-road operations. Thus, § 192.25(2)'s 

two-person crew requirement is preempt­
ed insofar as it bans one-person host.ling 
and helper movements. 

[5] As we discussed above, between 
1993 and 1995, the FRA considered and 

promulgated regulations governing wh 
blue signal protection had to be used when 

1 
. en 

a one engmeer performed hostling or 
helper service. In response to a petition 
for reconsideration, it suspended the regu. 
lation placing additional requirements on 
one-person · crews (49 C.F.R. § 218.24). 
As our description of the rule-making pro­
cess shows, the FRA considered the issue 
of safety for one-person crews conducting 
these two types of operations and whether 
additional precautions were needed. It ul­
timately decided not to impose any. When 
the FRA examines a safety concern re­
garding an activity and affirmatively de­
cides that no regulation. is needed, this has 
the effect of being an order that the activi­
ty is permitted. See Norfolk & Western 
Ry. v. Public Util. Comm'n, 926 F.2d 567, 
570 (6th Cir.1991) (FRA decision not to 
impose requirement of walkways on rail­
road bridges preempted state requirement 
of such walkways); Burlington Northern 
R.R., 880 F.2d at 1106-07 (FRA's consid­
ering adopting rule requiring caboose but 
declining · to do so reinforced conclusion 
that telemetry regulation preempted state 
requirement for caboose); Missouri & Pa­
cific R.R. v. Texas R.R. Comm'n, 850 F .2d 
264, 267-68 (5th Cir.1988) (same). The 
district court was therefore incorrect to 
conclude that because 49 C.F.R. § 218.24 
was susi:ie_nded it is irrelevant to the issue 
of preemption. The decision to impose the 
added safety requirementS for certain one­
person operations and the decision to sus­
pend it were final dispositions of the 
FRA's position on the matter; · and were 
thus "orders" under § 20106. 

Wisconsin argues that the subject mat-
ter of the FRA's orders and regulations 
was blue ' sigmil protection, not the mini­
mum safe crew size. That argument too 
finely slices the subject matter of the fed­
eral regulations. The FRA considereu 
whether a lone engineer could safely con­
duct hostling and ·helper service with~ 
blue signal or some. other additional p~~~ ~ 
tection; it concluded that he could. Wis......, 
consin argues that in deciding that these 
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blue signal protection, the FRA did not 
decide the more basic issue of whether the 
operations were safe at all. This argu­
ment is too narrow. So also is Wisconsin's 
argument that the FRA's decision that 
lone engineers could safely conduct hos­
tling and helper operations without blue 
signal protection merely "touches upon" 
rather than substantially subsumes the 
subject of whether one-person crews were 
safe for these operations. The FRA's 
more specific conclusion that the opera­
tions were safe without added precautions 
encompasses the more general one that 
they are safe. Wisconsin's requirement 
that two persons conduct these operations 
directly contradicts the FRA's decision 
that one person may do them safely. Un­
der § 20106, Wisconsin's requirement 
must give way. To the extent 
§ 192.25(2)'s two-person crew requirement 
applies to hostling and helper operations, 
it is preempted. 

[6] We do not reach the same conclu­
sion regarding one-person crews on over­
the-road operations, however. The plain­
tiffs argue that the FRA has affirmatively 
approved all one-person operations, but 
the record does not support this argument. 
As we just discussed, the FRA's decisions 
regarding blue signal protection for one­
person crews showed that the ·agency con­
sidered and decided the issue with regard 
to hostling and helper operations only. 
The FRA's regulations and its discussion 
of them in the Federal Register do not 
show that the agency considered the issue 
of one-person crews in other types of oper­
ations. The plaintiffs rely on the FRA's 
test program of remote control devices and 
the statements it made to Wisconsin Cen­
tral about other railroads conducting one­
person operations as evidence that the 

FRA approves one-person operations gen­
erally. The plaintiffs seem to argue that 
because the FRA is aware of one-person 
operations and has not proscribed them, it 
must necessarily approve them as safe. 
This does not follow. Such a position gives 

too much weight to agency in action. The 
record shows unequivocally that the FRA 
is aware that the railroad industry uses 
one-person crews for some over-the-road 
operations. And it shows that the FRA 
has not prohibited this practice, although it 
currently has the matter under consider­
ation. But what the record does not show 
is that the FRA has considered the issue 
and affirmatively decided not to regulate 
such operations. Only this sort of affirma­
tive decision preempts state requirements. 
As the Supreme Court held in applying a 
different statute, "'where failure of ... 
federal officials affirmatively to exercise 
their authority takes on the character of a 
ruling that no such regulation is appropri­
ate or approved pursuant to the policy of 
the statute,' states are not permitted to 
use their police power to enact such a 
regulation." Ray v. Atlantic Richfield Co., 
435 U.S. 151, 178, 98 S.Ct. 988, 55 L.Ed.2d 
179 (1978) (quoting Bethlehem Steel Co. v. 
New York State Labor Relations Bd., 330 
U.S. 767, 774, 67 S.Ct. 1026, 91 L.Ed. 1234 
(1947)) (omission in original). As the Fifth 
Circuit put it, the difference is between an 
agency saying "'we haven't looked at [the 
issue] yet,' rather than, as Ray requires, 
'we haven't done anything because we have 
determined it is appropriate to do noth­
ing.' " Missouri P. R.R. v. Texas R.R. 
Comm'n, 833 F.2d 570, 576 (5th Cir.1987). 
The record does not show that the FRA's 
consideration of one-person crews on over­
the-road operations has taken on the char­
acter of an affirmative decision to do noth­
ing; if and when it does, that decision will 
preempt § 192.25. But until it does, Wis­
consin is free to require two-person crews 
on over-the-road operations. 

[7, 8] There are a few more aspects of 
this case that require further discussion. 
The first is the preemptive effect of the 
FRA's Safety Compliance Agreements 
with Wisconsin Central. The plaintiffs re­
lied on these agreements to show that the 
FRA had generally approved one-person 
crews. As discussed above, the agree­
ments show the FRA was aware that some 
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railroads used one-person crews for over­
the-road movements, but they do not show 
that the FRA had considered the issue of 
their safety and affirmatively approved 
these operations. This does not mean, 
however, that the agreements are totally 
without effect, as Wisconsin argues and as 
the district court seemed to think. The 
agreements showed that the FRA had tak­
en jurisdiction over Wisconsin Central's 
operations in Wisconsin and had set out 
things the railroad could and could not do. 
These agreements, then, showed that the 
FRA had considered Wisconsin Central's 
operations and approved various aspects of 
it-including some one-person operations. 
Under Wisconsin's theory that these 
agreements had no preemptive effect, Wis­
consin could prevent Wisconsin Central 
from doing precisely what the FRA had 
told the railroad it could do. The FRA, 
not Wisconsin, has the "whip hand" in 
railroad safety regulations, Shots, 38 F.3d 
at 307. The fact that the agreements were 
temporary and that the FRA was evaluat­
ing and revising its position does not mean 
the agreements are not final dispositions of 
the FRA's position on the operations ex­
pressly covered by the agreements. If a 
state could prohibit a railroad from doing 
that which the FRA expressly approved 
merely because the FRA was permitting 
the activity as part of an ongoing study of 
the matter, then the FRA's ability to make 
informed decisions would be severely cur­
tailed. The FRA's affirmative decision 
that a specific activity should be permitted, 
even if just so that it can be studied, is . a 
final disposition approving the activity. 
While the Safety Compliance Agreements 
don't have the broad preelI)ptive effect 
that the plaintiffs argue for, they do "cov­
er" the subject matter of all ·operations 
that they specifically permit. 

[9] We have the same view of the 

preemptive effect of the FRA's 1994 test 
program for remote control devices. To 
the extent the FRA approved the use of a 
remote control device in a particular oper­
ation with a one-person crew-apparently 

the only type of crew that uses such de­
vices-necessarily the FRA had to have 
approved a one-person crew for that oper­
ation. Again, the FRA's more specific 
conclusion necessarily had to encompass 
the more general conclusion. Wisconsin 
argues, and the district court seemed to 
agree, that because the test program did 
not apply to all railroads it had no preemp­
tive effect. It did not have the broad 
preemptive effect the plaintiffs argue for. 
But the FRA's decision to permit the us~· 
of remote control devices by railroads par­
ticipating in the test program was an affir­
mative decision to allow those operations 
specifically covered by the program, and 
any state requirement prohibiting them 
would have been preempted. But an affir­
mative decisio_n to permit specific opera­
tions is not, as the plaintiffs argue, neces­
sarily an affirmative decision to permit all 
similar operations conducted by railroads 
not part of the test program. We cannot 
definitively state what preemptive effect 
the remote control test program-which is 
apparently no longer being conducted­
would have had on a two-person crew re­
quirement because the record is unclear as 
to exactly what types of operations were 
involved. To the extent they were hostling 
or helper operations, its preemptive effect 
on a two-person crew requirement is irrel­
evant because other regulations specifical­
ly approved those operations. All that is 
certain is that to the extent the FRA 
decided to permit a particular activity as 
part of the test program, that decision 
preepipted any state requirements on that 
same subject matter. But as noted, this 
record does not demonstrate exactly what 
that extent was. 

In response to Wheeling & Lake Erie's 
request for waivers of certain regulations 
to conduct remote control operations, the 
UTU filed a petition for an emergency 
order banning all remote control opera-C>() 
tions and . the FRA denied that petitio~ 
The amict argue that this denial was an 
affirmative decision that remote control~ 
operations we.re generally permitted and, 
necessarily, that one-person crews were as 



_ :,,_ I 

~!':ii~ 

il! t<:-& ::a. 
:(F.!l 
;"~ 
~.,. 

~ 
~ 
l1\l\ 
"'I"-

8()4. 186 FEDERAL REPORTER, 3d SERIES -•::/' 

well. But the record does not give any circumstance is invalid, such invalidity 
details about the FRA's deliberations lead- shall not affect other provisions or appli-
·mg to its conclusion to deny the UTU's cations which can be given effect without 
petition. It is unclear what conclusions the invalid provision or application. 
the FRA reached in making that decision. Wis. Stat. § 990.001(11). "The factors to 
Thus, as this record stands the denial of 
the petition does not necessarily mean that 
no regulation was appropriate. 

In sum, § 192.25's two-person crew re­
quirement is preempted for hostling and 
helper operations. It is also preempted to 
the extent the FRA through agreements 
with Wisconsin Central expressly permits 
that railroad to conduct one-person crew 
operations. 

C. The Severability of § 192.25 

[10] We have held that neai;ly ai.l of 
§ 192.25 is preempted by federal regula­
tions and orders. The only part remaining 
is the two-person crew requirement for 
operations that are neither hostling nor 
helper service. On appeal, · the plaintiffs 
argue that the statute's provisions are not 
severable, and so in preempting part we 
should invalidate the whole. This issue 
seems not to have been raised in the dis­
trict court, but neither Wisconsin nor the 
UTU argue that this issue was waived so 
we will address it. 

[11] Whether invalid provisions in a 
state law can be· severed from the whole to 
preserve the rest is a question of state law. 
Leavitt v. Jane L., 518 U.S. 137, 116 S.Ct. 
2068, 2069, 135 L.Ed.2d 443 (1996); Brock­
ett v. Spokane Arcades, Inc., 472 U.S. 491, 
506, 105 S.Ct. 2794, 86 L.Ed.2d 394 (1985). 
Both Leavitt and Brockett involved stat­
utes that were partially invalid because 
some of their provisions were unconstitu­
tional. We have found no case addressing 
the severability of a state statute that was 
partially preempted. We assume for pur­
poses of deciding this case that state law 

wouJd also govern this issue. Wisconsin's 
severability law .was created by statute: 

The provisions of the statutes are sever­
able . . . . If any provision of the statutes 
or of a session law is invalid, or if the 
application of either to any person or 

consider in deciding whether a statute 
should. be severed from an invalid provi­
sion are the intent of the legislature and 
the validity of the severed portion standing 
alone." In re Hezzie R. (State v. Hezzie 
R.), 219 Wis.2d 848, 580 N.W.2d 660, 665 
(1998) (quotation omitted). Section 192.25 
(3) provides that subsection (2) of the stat­
ute, which contains the two-person crew 
requirement, shall not apply to the extent 
it is contrary to federal regulations. This 
provision of course has no practical effect 
because the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. 
Constitution makes the statute apply only 
to the extent it does not conflict with fed­
eral law. But it does evidence a legislative 
intent to keep whatever part of subsection 
(2) was not preempted. It does not, of 
course, expressly show an intent to keep a · 
part of subsection (2) when subsection (1) 
had also been preempted. But we think 
the intent is clear enough and the purpose 
of § 192.25 is not thwarted by federal pre­
emption of subsection (1). Although the 
state requirements for crew qualifications 
are ineffective "this does not mean that any 
miscellaneous person could operate a train 
in Wisconsin. Subsection (1) is preempted 
precisely because the FRA has covered the 
subject matter of crew qualifications with 
its extensive regulations. Indeed, the Wis­
consin iegislature merely adopted the fed­
eral standards for engineers and its stan­
dards for trainmen are compatible with the 
federal requirements and certainly less ex­
tensive. Thus, we conclude that the re- . 
maining parts of § 192.25 can be given · 
effect without the preempted parts, and 
that the legislature so intended. We 
therefore decline to strike down the stat-

ute in its entirety. 

III. 

In conclusion, the qualification require­
ments for locomotive engineers in 
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§ 192.25(l)(a) and for trainmen .in 
§ 192.25(l)(b) are preempted S . 
§ 192 2 , . ect10n 

· 5(2) s requirement th t 1 . . · a a ocomo-
tive. engme:r b: at the controls of a loco­
motive anytime 1t moves is als 
Section 192 25(2)' 0 preempted. 

. · s two-person crew re-
qun·ement is preempted for hostlin and 
helper movements It is al g 

t1 · so preempted 
to 1e exte~t that one-person operations 
are the subJect of a Safety Co 1. A . mp iance 

gi. eement between Wisconsin Central 
~nd FRA. Finally, the Preempted por­
t10I,1s of 'the statute are severable from the 
rest so that those provisions n· t 
ed may stand on their own. o preempt-

The judgment of the· district 'court . 
therefore AFFIRMED IN p ART · d R is 
IN PART. an EVERSED 
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House Transportation Committee 

HB 1357 

Februa ry 5, 2015 

Testimony of John M. Olson, Lobbyist #148 

BNSF Rai lway 

Two person crew 

On behalf of BNSF, we a re opposed to HB1357 based upon the fol lowing: 

l cf 3 

This b i l l  is unnecessary because of existing federa l  safety rule making a lready underway at the federal 

level. Therefore, the subject matter of the bi l l  is currently covered, and federal preemption appl ies. 

Further, the bil l ignores new advanced safety technology and questions a re raised concerning its 

breadth. 

The bi l l  requ i res two crew members on al l tra ins haul ing freight. Presumably, the idea is to have a pi lot 

and copilot situation .  However, it ignores passenger tra ins, which operate with an  engineer a lone in the 

cab with the conductors rid ing back in coaches, far removed from the controls. They are not copilots. 

How can one person be safe when haul ing people but dangerous when haul ing soybeans? 

The bil l is unnecessary. BNSF uses two man crews now and is requ ired to do so by its labor contracts. A 

sh ift to a one person crew requires either that the union advocating this bi l l  agree to it, or an  act of 

Congress to so requ i re (under the Rai lway Labor Act where Congress can set terms of labor agreements). 

In its attempt to negotiate a contract in which one person would be on the tra in, such proposa l excluded 

tra ins carrying oi l  or threshold amounts of hazardous materials .  Those tra ins would a bsolutely cont inue 

with two people on board . Tra ins with one person would have been supplemented by employees driving 

veh icles, who would be ab le to deal with issues such as cutting tra ins at crossings to avoid blockage. 

S imply stated, they would have been able to drive to the crossing rather than having to wa lk a half mi le 

or more from the locomotive . 

The U .S. Department of Transportation is currently conducting a hearing a rulemaking process on the 

subject of crew size and location .  The schedule ca l ls for the rule to be publ ished in  April a nd the 

comment period closes in  June, 2015. (This can be found at the DOT.gov website, Reports on 

Rulemakings) . Any action that the state would take now may a l ready be preempted; it  a lmost certainly 

wi l l  be when the rule is enacted. 

The bi l l  is overly broad .  While it excludes some ra i l  yard and terminal  activities, it sti l l  covers a reas found 

to be preempted by a federal appel late court involving a Wisconsin statute. See Burl ington Northern 

Santa Fe Ra i lway Company v. Doyle, 186 F.3rd (7th Cir. 1999) .  

There is also a question of  how the  b i l l  affects remote control switching jobs, that the un ion has  a lready 

agreed to . In those situations, there is often no one on the locomotive itse lf. 
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Train  crews operate across state l ines. So what happens if a tra in  with one crew member crosses into 

North Dakota from a neighboring state? 

Finally, the bi l l  prohibits the rai l  industry from taking advantage of new advanced technology. Rai l  

carriers a re under  a federal mandate to install a new system called Positive Train Control at  a cost of 

more than $10 Bil l ion to the industry. This system will provide improved safety by control l ing tra i n  

speeds, preventing collisions, stopping trains from going on the wrong track or running through 

switches. U nder this bi l l, railroads would not only have to bear the cost of this system, they would be 

pro h ibited from rea lizing a ny labor savings it would provide. 
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Pa ur ,  Gary A. 

From: F edorchak, J ul ie L. 
Sent: 
To: 

Wednesday, F ebruary 18, 2015 10:51 PM 
Paur, G ary A. 

Subject: Two- person rail crews 

Hi Gary. Getting back to you on the issue of two-person crews for the railroad. I did talk to the federal 
rail administration (FRA) and they said they don't support reducing the crews to one engineer. The 
biggest safety risk of a one man-crews is the inability to break a train, resulting in blocked crossings 
or, in the case of an accident such as occurred in Larimore, the train would not have been able to be 
separated to allow for emergency vehicles to arrive at the scene through that crossing. Two-person 
crews also provide better distribution of duties, more accountability and interaction to remain attentive 
on long trips, and more hands on deck in the event of an emergency. 

I expect the FRA will be coming out with a rule this year requiring two-person crews on all Haz mat 
trains. The railroads argue that new technology with automatic operating systems facilitates one-man 
crews. However , that technology won't be available on all the rail in the system, leaving crews where 
it isn't available short staffed. 

Regarding the states authority to pass a law requiring two-person crews the answer is yes, we do 
have this right and several other states have already passed such requirements. 

Thanks for calling. I hope this answers your questions. 

Julie 
Sent from my iPad 

This transmission, email and any files transmitted with it , may be: ( 1) subject to the Attorney-Client 
Privilege, (2) an attorney work product, or (3) strictly confidential under federal or state law. If you are 
not the intended recipient of this message, you may not use, disclose, print, copy or disseminate this 
information. If you have received this transmission in error, notify the sender (only) and delete the 
message. This message may also be subject to disclosure under the North Dakota Open Records 
Laws. 
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